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NESTLE WATERS (UK) HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Directors' responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 101
*Reduced Disclosure Framework’. Under company taw the directors must not approve the financia! statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed

and explained in the financial statements;

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the

Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Cempany and to

enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are alse responsible for

safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

Results and dividends

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £NIL (2016 - £NIL).
The Company has not traded during the year or the preceding financial year. During these periods, the Company received
no income and incurred no expenditure and therefore made neither profit or loss.

Directors
The directors who served during the year were:

F Sarzi Braga (resigned 31 August 2017)
M. Beneventi {appointed 1 September 2017)
A Bentley ( resigned 18 May 2016}

R Shaw

A Davenport (resigned 1 November 2017)
C. Roberts (appointed 17 November 2017)

Small companies note

In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemptions provided by section 415A
of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 7 June 2018 and signed on its behalf.

Aardsw Gy

C. Roberts

Director
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NESTLE WATERS (UK) HOLDINGS LIMITED v

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that persod.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed

and explained in the financial statements;

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the

Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and to

enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for

safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

Results and dividends

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £NIL (2016 - £NIL).
The Company has not traded during the year or the preceding financial year. During these periods, the Company received
no income and incurred no expenditure and therefore made neither profit or loss.

Directors
The directors who served during the year were:

F Sarzi Braga (resigned 31 August 2017)
M. Beneventi (appointed 1 September 2017)
A Bentley ( resigned 18 May 2016)

R Shaw

A Davenport (resigned | November 2017)
C. Roberts (appointed 17 November 2017)

Small companies note

In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemptions provided by section 415A
of the Companies Act 2006,

This report was approved by the board on 7 June 2018 and signed on its behalf.

Hardsa Gty

C. Roberts
Director
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NESTLE WATERS (UK) HOLDINGS LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The Company has not traded during the year or the preceding financial year. During these periods, the Company received
no income and incurred no expenditure and therefore made neither profit or loss.

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
2017 2016
Note £000 £000
Fixed assets
Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 3 56,968 56,968
56,968 56,968
Total assets less current liabilities 56,968 56,968
Net assets excluding pension asset 56,968 56,968
Net assets 56,968 56,968
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 6,500 6,500
Share premium account 41,318 41,318
Profit and loss account 9,150 9.150
56,968 56,968

The members have not required the Company to obtain an audit for the year in question in accordance with section 476 of
Companies Act 2006.

The Company was entitled to exemption from audit under section 430 of the Companies Act 2006.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for complying with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 with
respect to accounting records and the preparation of financial statements,

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to entities subject to
the smail companies regime.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 7 June
2018.

MM—@\

C. Roberts
Director
The notes on pages 3 to 4 form part of these financial statements,
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NESTLE WATERS (UK) HOLDINGS LIMITED '

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Accounting policies

1.1

1.2

1.3

Basis of preparation of financial statements
Nestlé Waters (UK) Holdings Limited (the "Company") is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 181 Reduced
Disclosure Framewerk ("FRS 101"). The amendments to FRS 101 {2013/i4 Cycle) issued in July 2015 and
cffective immediately have been applied.

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU {"Adopted IFRSs"), but
makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below
where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

Financial reporting standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking, Nestlé S.A includes the Company in its conselidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S.A are prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Nestle Headquarters,
CHI1800, Vevey, Switzerland

The company has taken advantage of the foilowing disclosure exemptions under FRS 101

- the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
. the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
. the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' to present comparative

information in respect of:
- paragraph 79(a)(iv) of [AS I;

. the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 404, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and
134-136 of LAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

. the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors

. the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

. the requirements in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into

between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the
transaction is wholly owned by such a member

Valuation of investments

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment.

Investments in unlisted Company shares, whose market value can be reliably determined, are remeasured to
market value at each balance sheet date. Gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in the Profit and
Loss Account for the period. Where market value cannot be reliably determined, such investments are stated at

historic cost less impairment.

Investments in listed company shares are remeasured to market value at each Balance Sheet date. Gains and
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss for the period.
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NESTLE WATERS (UK) HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

-t

. Accounting policies (continued)

2. INVESTMENTS

Subsidiary Nestlé Watercoolers UK Limited
Status Non trading

Date of Acquisition /Incorporation 29 December 1999

Ownership 100%

Capital and reserves Nil

Profit for the year Nil

Country of incorporation United Kingdom

Nestlé Watercoolers UK Limited was dissolved through voluntary strike-off on 10 April 2018 and will be no
impact on the results of the company.

3. Debtors

2017 2016
£000 £000
Amounts owed by group undertakings 56,968 56,968

56,968 56,968

4., Post balance sheet events
Directors are planning to strike off this dormant company and as a part of the process the company has submitted
the proposal to reduce the share capital to £1.This was submitted to the Companies House and has been approved
on 24th January 2018.The subsidiary Nestlé Watercoolers UK Limited was dissolved on 10 April 20§8.There have
been no other significant events affecting the Company since the year end.

5. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Company’s parent and controlling party is Nestlé Holdings (U.K.) PLC, a Company registered in the United
Kingdom, and its ultimate parent Company is Nestlé S.A., a Company registered in Switzerland.

Nestlé Holdings(U.K.} PLC, which is registered in England and Wales, is the holding company for the UK group.
The ultimate parent undertaking and the largest group for which group accounts are prepared is Nestlé S.A., a

company registered in Switzerland. The consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S.A.are available to the
public and may be obtained from Nestlé Headquarters, CHE800, Vevey, Switzerland.
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Principal exchange rates

CHF per
2017 2016 2017 2018

Year ending rates Weighted average annual rates
1 U5 Dollar e MSD oe77 18
1Euro B . EUR 188
100 Chinese Yuan Renminbi . e GNY_ 15.001

098 0.985

1113

, 1,080
14,503

10 BrazlienReals  BRL 29531 31383 30796 28583

ﬁ}qphi”?ﬂﬂ?mpﬁf%ww PHP 71.957 . 2.06& - 1.953
¥ Paund Sterling Gep .. .. 1318 : 1.27%
100 Mexican Pesos M AT 5.212
1 Canadian Rollar 0.778 0.759

0.878

100 Japanese Yen L ARY . 0.867 .
0.754

1.688

1 Australian Doltar 7 aup g7e1
sian Rubles O aue 104

Consotidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017 63



Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2017

In millions of CHF
Rt 2017 2016
Sales 3 89 791 89 469

Other revenue e . .. 3O
e s 317
i fB20%) (8059
(0540) (21485
. oty (1736)
Other trading income B 1 e,
Orher trading CXpPenses T S .4, . o ('1 607) (’%73}
Trading operating profit 13 233 13 693

Costof goodssold

Distribution expenses
Marketing and administration expenses

Research and devslopment costs

(SN

Other Operating NCOme e e e A K 0.
Qther operating expenses {3 500} {884}
Operating profit 10 112 13163

[

Financial income e . 3 w2 o1

Financial expense & 771} {758}
Profit before taxes, associates and joint ventures 9 493 12 526

Taxes 42779 (2 M3

Income from associates and joint ventures 324 770
Profit for the year 7538 8 883
ot which attributable 10 nor-cantralling interests - . -

¢holders of the r18s

parert {Net profit}

As percontages of sales

tdors of the parent {Net pro

e year attributable to

mngs per sha

Diluted earnings per share
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2017

In mE”IOﬂ of CHF

Noins 2017 2016

Profit for the year recognised in the income statement 7538 8 883
Currency retranslations, net of taxes RN A e8) ..o
Fair value adjustments on ayqqlaiglgjgr"sgjgajlﬁngnczal mstruments net of h‘axea R 7 ooy 16
Fair value adjustments on cash flow hedges, netoftexes 1 ] G .
Share of other comprehensive income of d"SOCIﬁt&S and joznt veniures a7 {240)
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently 1o the income statement ©es)

asurement of defined benefit plans, net of taxes e 1083 {148}
Share of ather comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures b2 {10}
Items that will never be reclassified to the income statement oL I {193
Qther comprehensive income for the year 17 252 7491
Total comprehensive income for the year 7790 9 624
ot which atiributable to nor-cantrolling interests e i e e ses. 348
_ ot which attributable 1o shareholders of the parent e e oo e S TaAe B2

65
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2017

before appropriations

in mitlions of CHF
Motes 2017 2016

Assets

Current assets

Derivative assets e e e 2,
Current income tax assels

Assets held for sale
Total current assets

ta

TS R
29748 ....38

20615
S S e e e e e e . . P 1‘§ 628

financial assets o - xc]
. 62
18687

Goodwill _

Intangible assets

Investments in associates and joint

Employee benefits assets

Deferred tax assets

LIS

Total non-current assets 98 190

Total assets 130 380 131 901
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Consoclidated palance sheet as at 31 December 2017

In millions of CH¥F

2017 2016
Liabilities and equity e ) ) o ) ~ o e
Financial debt . S 4 . 10838 12118
Trade and other payables B ) o inz agiz
Accruals and deferred income . e 4094 855
Derivative labifties . 1z oso7 _ 1oes
Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 2 12 6
Total current liabilities 36 054 37 517
Non-current liabilities e e _ S S OO
Financialdebt 12 15932
Employee benefits liabikites o 7
Provisions o e 2 445
Deferred tax liabilities 3559
Other payables 12 2 502
Total non-current liabilities 31 549
Total liabilities 67 603
Baury e - SO U L
Share capital SO BTV . an

Treasury shares

Translation reserve

@esn
(19433)

Otherreserves . 989
Retained earnings 84 174
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 61 504
Non-controlling interests 1273
Total equity 62 777
Total liabilities and equity 130 380 131 901

Consolidated Financiat Statements of the Nestié Group 2017
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2017

le millions of CHF

Netes 2017 2016
Operating activities e o e .
Operating profit - S - 6 Stz 1383
Depreciation and amortisation e o 3227 - 3132
Impairmen R I 3557 640
Net 'résult on disposal of businesses e 132 .
Other non-cash items of income and expense {1 85) T WZ;;
Cash flow before changes in operating assets and liabilities 16 843 16 970
Decreasellincrease) in working capital o 6 (243 1801
Variation of other operating assets and liabilities 16 393 84
Cash generated from operations 16 993 18 825
Net cash flows from treasury activities 18 e o 327)
Taxes paid S e e . (2 686) 3438
Dividends and tnterest from assomates and joint ventures 4 582 519
Operating cash flow 13 486 15 582
Investing activities o . o - e
Capital expendrmre i - i ~ & @wy @010}
Expenditure on mtang:bfe assets R ) e o } % {769y 2

B o . o {G96) o

fnvestments (net of dlvestments) in as somates and joint ventures } _ o ey (7:’5§$
Inflows/(outflows) from treasury i - 593 (a3
Other investing activities (134} {34}
Investing cash flow {4 840) {6 123}

Flnancmg actlwttes ~

Dividend paid to sha[ehoider of the parent o

CAE N

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests .. B4z W32
- L2 toesy (1208

e (3299

Inflows from i)(mds and other non- current flnanc;a! dg!pj(m o 1z - 65406

Outflows from bonds and other non-current financial debt e 2 12489

Inflows/{outtiows) from current financial debt {1 009}

Financing cash flow 8 381}

Currency retranslations {217} 1169}

Increasel/{decrease)} in cash and cash equivalents {52} 3106

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear 7 990 4 884

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 938 7 890

o

{3} In 2017, mosty relates to the Snare Buy-FPaclk Programree launched 10 2017,
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2017

In mitlions of CHEF

. £
o x5 [~4 =
E <s 3838 £,
= g, B g 56 §529 g%
o 8 z 8 2z 5L £E5 —5%92 e - &
28 ¢ § 2 £ 8 §§ 8282 58 g3
B 8 -5 =2 o2 TO Fa®o Z £ F e
Equity as at 31 December 2015 319 {7 A89) (19851 1345 8B 014 62 338 1648 63 986
Profit R 8531 8531 352 8883
Gther comprehensive income for the year {154) 750 741
Total comprehensive income for the year - .83 g281 _.8624

Dividends .
Movement of treasury shares B

.. 893m
{27)

(7 369)
776

16 937)
776

Equity compensation plans ) ) - i 180 . B 18(3
Changes in non-controlling intg::gﬁ:s fa o (=91 7(991) N 3 (1159)
Reduction in share capital ' & 481 P — -
Total transactions with owners 13483 (8972)  (600) (7 572)
Other movements e e e o ST -o: U - 4 S 157).
Equity as at 31 December 2016 31 {990} (18 799} 1198 82870 64590 1391 653981
Profitforthe year - e T e 2183 7983 355 7 EB38
Other comprehensive income for the yoar {634) {209) 1122 279 {27) 252
Total comprehensive income forthe year - - {834 (209) 8305 7482 328 7790
Dividends T T T oo e ey @42y (7 A8
Movement of treasury shares o @Brey 13 {3 6086) - {3 606}
Equity compensation plans o o2 o et - 161
Changes in non-controlling interests @ - - 93 93 {104) (11}
Total transactions with owners 3547 - oo B931) (10478) - (446) (10924)
Other movernents . .. S T e T T A0S o o 70
Equity as at 31 December 2017 311 14 537 (18 433) 989 B4174 61504 1273 62777

ia} Movemsnis reportsa undear s ed eamings melude the imsac: of the acauisitions (see Note 2.5; 83 well ag pul options for

ib} Reduction in share capital, see

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017
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Notes

1. Accounting policies

Accounting convention and accounting standards
The Consolidated Financial Statements comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and with Swiss taw.

They have besn prepared on an accrual basis and under
the historical cost convention, unless stated otherwise. All
significant consolidated companies, joint arrangernents and
associates have a 31 December accounting year-end.

The Consolidated Financial Statements 2017 were approved
for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 February 2018 and
are subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting on
12 Aprit 2018.

Accounting policies

Accounting policies are included in the relevant notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and are presented
as text highlighted with a grey background. The accounting
policies below are applied throughout the financial
statements.

Key accounting judgements, estimates
and assumptions
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
requires Group Management to exercise judgement and to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies, reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities and disclosures. These estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
cther factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods. Those areas affect mainly provisions and
contingencies {see Note 11), goodwiil and intangible assets
with indefinite usefu! life impairment tests (see Note 9),
employee benefits {see Note 10), allowance for doubtful
receivables {see Note 7) and taxes {see Note 13).

Consoclidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017

Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Group’s entities is the currency
of their primary economic environment.

In individual companies, transactions in foreign currencies
are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at year-end rates. Any resulting
exchange differences are taken to the income statement,
except when deferred in other comprehensive income as
qualifying cash flow hedges.

On consoclidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations
reported in their functional currencies are translated into
Swiss Francs, the Group's presentation currency, at year-end
exchange rates. Income and expense are translated into Swiss
Francs at the annual weighted average rates of exchange or
at the rate on the date of the transaction for significant items.

Differences arising from the retranslation of opening net
assets of foreign operations, together with differences arising
from the transtation of the net results for the year of foreign
operations, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

The balance sheet and net results of subsidiaries
operating in hyperinflationary economies are restated for
the changes in the general purchasing power of the |ocal
currency, using official indices at the balance sheet date,
before translation into Swiss Francs and, as a result, are
stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the balance
sheet date.

When there is a change of control in a foreign operation,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Valuation methods, presentation and definitions
Revenue
Sales represent amounts received and receivable from third
parties for goods supplied to the customers and for services
rendered. Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised in
the income statement at the moment when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been
transferred to the buyer, which is mainly upan shipment.
it is measured at the list price applicable to a given distribution
channel after deduction of returns, sales taxes, pricing
allowances, other trade discounts and couponing and price
promotions to consumers. Payments made to the customers
for commercial services received are expensed.

Other revenue is primarily license fees from third parties
which have been earned during the period.

7t



1. Accounting policies

Expenses

Cost of goods sold is determined on the basis of the cost
of production or of purchase, adjusted for the variation of
inventories. All other expenses, including those in respect
of advertising and promotions, are recognised when the
Group receives the risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods or when it receives the services. Additional details
of specific expenses are provided in the respective notes.

Changes in presentation — analyses by segment
Starting in 2017, Underlying Trading operating profit is shown
in the analyses by segment on a voluntary basis because

it is one of the key metrics used by Group Management to
monitor the Group and segment performance.

Changes in accounting standards
A number of standards have been modified on miscellanecus
points with effect from 1 January 2017. Such changes include
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
(Amendments to |IAS 12), Disclosure Initiative {Amendments
10 1AS 7), and Annual Improvements 2014-2016 (specifically
the amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Clarification of the scope of the Standard).

None of these amendments had a material effect on the
Group’s Financial Statements.

Changes in accounting standards that may affect the
Group after 31 December 2017

The following new accounting standards, interpretations
and amendments 1o existing standards have been published
and are mandatory for the accounting period beginning

on 1 January 2018 or later. The Group has not early adopted
them.

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments
The standard addresses the accounting principles for the
financial reporting of financial assets and financial liabilities,
including classification, measurement, impairment,
derecognition and hedge accounting. It will be mandatory
for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018,
The Group has performed a review of the business
model corresponding to the different portfolios of financial
assets and of the characteristics of these financial assets.
Consequently, debt instruments whose cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest ("SPPI"} will be
designated either at amortised cost or at fair value through
Other Comprehensive Income depending the objectives
of the business model. The existing investments in equity

72

instruments at the date of the initiaf application will
generally be designated at fair value through Other
Comprehensive Income by election. This election should
generate a reclassification between equity components,
with no net impact on the total Group’s equity.

There is no expected impact on the Group's accounting
for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect
the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at
fair value through profit or loss, and the Group does not have
any such liabilities.

The impact of the new impairment model has also been
reviewed. This analysis requires the identification of the
credit risk associated with the counterparties and, considering
that the majority of Group's financial assets are trade
receivables, integrates some statistical data reflecting the
past experience of losses incurred due to defauit.

Furthermore, the Group has updated the definitions of
its hedging relationships in line with the risk management
activities and policies, with a specific attention to the
identification of the components in the pricing of the
commodities.

Changes in accounting policies resulting from IFRS 9
will be applied retrospectively as at 1 January 2018, but
with no restatement of comparative information for prior
years. Consequently, the Group will recognise any difference
between the carrying amount of financial instruments under
IAS 38 and the carrying amount under IFRS 9 in the opening
retained earnings {or other equity components) of the
accounting period including the date of initial application.

The total estimated adjustment (net of tax} to the
opening equity at the date of initial application is not
material.

IFRS 15 -~ Revenue from Contract with Customers
This standard combines, enhances and replaces specific
guidance on recognising revenue with a single standard.

ft defines a new five-step model to recognise revenue
from customer contracts. The Group has undertaken a review
of the main types of commercial arrangements used with
customers under this model and has tentatively concluded
that the application of IFRS 15 will not have a material impact
on the consolidated results or financial position. The effects
identified so far are as follows:

i} a small proportion of sales (less than 0.5% of annual
sales) is expected to be recognised on average 2 days
later under the new standard, but the impact at the end
of the pericd is compensated by a similar effect at the
start of the year leading to a net nil impact at Group level;

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017



1. Accounting policies

i} an estimated amount of CHF 0.2 billion in payments to
customers currently treated as distribution costs would
be reclassified as deductions from sales under the new
standard.

This standard is mandatory for the accounting period

beginning on 1 January 2018. The Group is planning to apply

the standard retrospectively, utilising the practical expedient
tc not restate contracts that begin and end within the same
annual accounting period.

IFRS 16 ~ Leases

This standard will replace 1AS 17 and sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases.

The main effect on the Group is that IFRS 16 intreduces
a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for almost all leases and will
therefore result in an increase of total property, plant
and equipment and total financial debt of approximately
CHF 3 billion. All things being equal, under the new standard
Trading operating profit would increase by approximately
CHF 0.1 billien due to the replacement of the operating
lease expense with amortisation of the lease assets. This
increase would be partially or entirely offset by higher interest
expense resulting in an insignificant impact on net profit,
The Group is currently finalising the precise impact of this
new standard.

This standard is mandatory for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2013. The Group is planning to
early adopt the standard beginning on 1 January 2018
under the full retrospective approach.

Improvements and other amendments to IFRS/IAS
A number of standards have been madified on miscellaneous
points. These include Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture
at Fair Value and Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures (Amendmeants to |1AS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures), Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions {(Amendments to IFRS 2,
Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFRS 4), Foreign
Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (IFRIC
Interpretation 22}, as well as the Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle.

None of these amendments are expected to have a material
effect on the Group's Financial Statements.

In June 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments to specify how to reflect uncertainty
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in accounting for income taxes. The current assessment

of the Greup is that the measurement of taxes will not be
impacted. The uncertain tax liabilities of circa CHF 1.3 billion
included under provisions in non-current liabilities will be
reclassified on the face of the balance sheet to current and
deferred taxes as deemed appropriate.
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2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals
of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of
non-controlling interests

Scope of consolidation :
The Consclidated Financial Statemems comprise those of Nesﬂe S.A. and of its
subsidiaries (the Group).

Companies which the Group controls are fully consolidated from the date at which
the Group obtains control. The Group controls a company when it is exposed 1o, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the company and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the company. Though the Group generally
holds a majority of voting rights in the companies which are controlled, this applies
rrespective of the percentage of interestin the share capitat if contfol is obtained -
through agreements with other shareholders.

The list of the principal subsidiaries is provided in the section Companies of the Nestlé
Group, joint arrangements and associates.

Business combmatlons ) .
Where not alt of the equity of a subsrdiary is acquu’ed the non- controllmg mterests are
recognised at the non-controlling interest’s share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
Ugon obtaining control in a business combination achieved in stages, the Group
remeasures its previously beld equity interest at fair va!ue and recognises a gain or

a loss 10 the income statement.

2.1 Modification of the scope of consolidation

Acquisitions

In 2017, among others, the acquisitions included:

- Blue Bottle Coffes, USA, high-end speciality coffee roaster and retailer (Powdered
and Liguid Beverages), 68%, November.

None of the acquisitions of 2017 were significant.

In 2018, among others, the acquisitions included:

— Proactiv business from Guthy-Renker, worldwide, acne treatment {Nutrition and
Health Science), 75%, May.

None of the acquisitions of 2016 were significant.

Disposals
In 2017, none of the disposals of the year were significant.

In 2016, the following significant disposal was made:

- lce cream business in Europe, Egypt, the Philippines, Brazil and Argentina, frozen food
business in Europe but excluding pizza and retail frozen food in ltaly as well as chilled
dairy business in the Philippines (Milk products and lce Cream as well as Prepared
dishes and coocking aids), 100%, end of September.

This disposal refated to the creation of the joint venture Froneri (see Note 14.3}.

None of the other disposals of the year were significant.
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2. Scope of consalidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acguisitions of non-centrolling interests

2.2 Acquisitions of businesses
The major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are:

In millions of CHFE

2017
Property, plant and equipment o - R o 54
Intangible assets w e e 326
E:lTlplmg\;:?emger_lneftjsdeferredt;xes éﬂcg_p_r_p_\fjsjppﬁmm - R o » ) (110}
Other liabilites N ) {41
Fair value of identifiable net assets 281
{ar Mainiy wadamarks and {rade names
Since the valuation of the assets and liabilities of recently acquired businesses is still
in process, the values are determined provisionally.
The goodwill arising on acquisitions and the cash outflow are:
fn millions of CHF
2017 2016
Fair value of consideration transferred L o 2 887
Non-controlling interests @ 49 100
Subtotal e - e e 182
Fair value of identifia blémﬁ;:&sets o 1281) {589)
Goodwill 497 193
ial Non-controlling interests have been measurad based on their proportionate interest in e recognized amounts o7 nel assals
of tha antitios atquirnd,
In millions of CHE
2017
Fair value of consideration trensterred ) ) 728
Cash and cash Bqulvaientsmagqu ed (8
Consideration payable . o _ 8
Payment of ConSi&;r;{iA(;;l payable on”;-nrior years acquisitions and otl;.ér- - 63
Cash outflow on acquisitions 696

The consideration transferred consists of payments made in cash with some consideration
remaining payable.

Acguisition-related costs

Acquisition-related costs have been recognised under other operating expenses in the
income statement (see Note 4.2} for an amount of CHF 27 million (2016: CHF 17 million).
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2. Scope of consolidation, acauisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions cf non-controlling interests

Acquisition after 31 December 2G17

On 5 December 2017, the Group announced that it has agreed to acquire Atrium Innovations,
a global leader in nutritional health products for USD 2.3 billion in cash. It will enhance
the Nestlé Health Science’s Consumer Care portfolio with value-added solutions such as
probictics, plant-based protein nutrition, meal replacements and an extensive multivitamin
line. kit represents annual sales of about USD 700 million made in the US, Canada and
Europe. The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2018 following the
completion of customary approvals and closing conditions.

2.3 Disposals of businesses
During the year, thers were no significant disposals of businesses.

In 2016, assets and liabilities disposed of were mainly composed of assets held for sale
{primarily fixed assets, goodwill and inventories) and liabilities held for sale {primarily
pension liabilities and accounts payables) related to the formation of the joint venture
Froneri (see Note 14.3). The major part of those assets and liabilities were presented

in Zone EMENA, with minor portions in the Zone AOA, Zone AMS and Other businesses
reportable segments.

In 2016, the loss on disposals {see Note 4.2} was mainly composed of the disposal of
businesses related to the creation of the joint venture Froneri and of other non-significant
disposals. With regards of Froneri, the net loss on disposal amounted to CHF 90 million.
It included the result of recycling in the income statement of the cumulative translation
losses in other comprehensive income of CHF 386 million as well as some costs related
to the creation of this joint venture.

In 2016, the profit on disposals {see Note 4.2) was mainly composed of a remeasurement
of a disposal group held for sale at end of 2015 following its reclassification during the year
as non-current assets as a result of a decision not to sell the business following identification
of new business opportunities for expansion.

In 2017 and 2016, cash inflow on disposals of businesses relates to several non-significant
disposals. With regards to the disposal of the ice cream and frozen food business in 2016,
a non-cash consideration of CHF 1243 million was received from Froneri in the form of
equity and shareholder loans.

76 Censolidated Financial Statements of the Nestié Group 2017



2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-controlling interests

2.4 Assets held for sale

Assets held. for saie and disposal groups.

Non- currem assets held for sale and dlsposa groups are prasented separateiy in the
current section of the balance sheét when the following criteria are met: the Group is
‘committed to selling the asset or disposal group, an active plan of sale has commenced,
and the sale is expacted to be complsted within 12 months. Immediately before the
initial c;lassn‘lcatmn m‘ the assets and disposal groups as held for sale, the carrying
amounts of the assets for all the assets and Isablimes in the disposal groups] are measured
in accordance with the app!ncable accounting pelicy. Assets held for sale and disposat

,groups are subsequently measured at the lower of their carrying ‘amount and faxr ~value

less cost to'sell. Assets held for sale are no longer amortised or deprecnatecl

As of 31 December 2017, assets held for sale are mainly composed of the US confectionery
business. A sale agreement has been signed on 16 January 2018, and compietion of the
transaction and the loss of control is expected before the end of the first quarter of 2018.
The assets reclassified (primarily fixed assets and inventory) are part of the Zone AMS
operating segment. The related cumuiative translation loss in other comprehensive
income has been estimated at CHF 30 million and will be recognised at the date the
control is lost. The estimated gain on the transaction amounts to about CHF 2 billion.

2.5 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Acqmsltmns and dlsposa!s of hon-contmllmg mterests ' )
The Group treats transact!ons ‘with non- contmlhng interests that do not result in loss :
of control as transactions wnth equity holders in their capaclty as equlty ho!ders For
purchases of shares from non-controlling interests, the difference between any.
consideration paid and the refevant share acqwred of the carrying amount of net assets

of the subsidiary is ‘recorded in equity. The same. prmcnpie is applied to dlSpDSaIS of
shares to non—cantrol[mg mterests

During the year, the Group increased its cwnership interests in certain subsidiaries. In 2017
the most significant one was in China. The consideration paid to non-controlling interests
in cash amounted to CHF 526 million and the decrease of non-controlling interests
amounted to CHF 152 million. Part of the consideration was recorded as a liakility in
previous years for CHF 518 million. During the year 2017, the equity attributable to
shareholders of the parent was positively impacted by CHF 144 million.

In 2016 the most significant ones were in [srael and China. The consideration paid
to non-controlling interests in cash amounted to CHF 1208 million and the decrease of
non-controlfling interests amounted to CHF 267 million. Part of the consideration had been
recorded as a liability in previous years for CHF 311 million. The equity attributable to
shareholders of the parent was negatively impacted by CHF 630 million.
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3. Analyses by segment

Nestlé is organised intc three geographic zones and several globally managed businesses.
The Company manufactures and distributes food and beverage products in the following
categories: powdered and liquid beverages, water, milk products and ice cream, prepared
dishes and cooking aids, confecticnery and petcare. Nestlé also manufactures and
distributes nutritional science products through its gicbally managed business Nestlé
Health Science and science-based solutions that contribute to the health of skin, hair
and nails through Nestlé Skin Health. The Group has factories in 85 countries and sales
in 188 countries and employs around 323 000 people.

Sagment reportmg

Operating segments reflect the Group’s management structure and the way financial
information is regularly reviewed by the Group s chief operating decision maker {CODM),
which is defined as the Executive Board.

The CODM considers the business from both a geographrc and product perspectwe,
through three geographic Zones and several Globally Managed Businesses {GMB),
Zones and GMB that meet the quantitative threshold of 10% of total sales or trading
operating profit for all operating segments, are presented on a stand-alone basis as
reportable segments. Even though it does not meet the reporting threshold, Nestié
Waters is reported separately for consistency with long-standing practice of the Group.
Therefore, the Group's reportable operating segments are: .

— Zone Europe, Middie East and North Africa (EMENA);

~ Zone Americas {AMS);

- Zone Asia, Oceanla and sub Saharan Africa (AOA)

- Nestle Waters;

- Nestlé Nutrition. S '
Other business activities and operatmg segments, mcludlng GMB that do not mest the
threshold,‘hke‘ Nespresso, Nestlé Health .SC}GI‘ICE and Nestlé Sk[n Health, are combined
and presented in Other businesses. Following a change of business structure, effective
as from 1 January 2017, Nestlé Professional has been managed as a Regionally Managed
Business instead of a Globally Managed Busmess and consequently reported as part of
Zone EMENA, Zone AMS and Zone ADA. 2016 comparatives have been restated.

As some operating segments represent geographic Zones, |nformatlon by praduct
is also disclosed, The seven product groups that are disclosed represent ‘the h|ghest )
categorles of products that are followed internally. '

. Segment results (Tradlng operating profit) represent the contnbutlon of the dlfferent
Segments ‘to“centra‘l overheads, unallocated research and development costs and the .
trading operating profit of the Group. Specific corporate expenses as well as specific
research and development costs are allocated to the corresponding segments. in addition
to the Trading operating profit, Underlying Trading operating profit is shown on a voluntary
basrs because it is one of the key metrics used by Group Management 10 monltor the
Group, -

Depreciation and amaortisation includes depremation of property, plant and eqmpment
and amortisation of intangible assets.
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3. Analyses by segment

No segment assets and liabilities are regularly provided to the CODM 1o assess segment
performance or to allocate resources and therefore segrment assets and liabilities are not
disclosed. However the Group discloses the invested capital, goodwrll and intangible
assets by segmant and by product on a voluntary basis.

Invested capital ‘comprises property, plant and equtpment trade recervables and some
other receivables, assets held for sale, inventories, prepayments and accrued income
s well as specrfrc financial assets associated to the segments, less trade payabtes and
some cther payables liabilities dirsctly asséciated with assets held for sale. non- current
‘other payables as well as accruals and deferred income.

Goodwrll and mtangrbie assets are not mciuded in invested caprtal since the amounts
‘recogmsed are not comparable betwean segments due to drfferences in the intensity
of acquisition acttvnty and changes in accountrng standards which were apphcable at
var;ous points in time when the Group undertook ssgmftcant acqulisitions. Nevertheless,;
an auocatlon of goodwill and |ntangtb|e assets by segment and product and the related
|rnpa;rment expenses are provrded ) .

lnternsegment elrmlnat!ons represent rnter»company ba{ances between the drfferent
segments . : :

Ipvested caprtel and goodwm and mtangrbfe assets by segment represent the .
srtuatrcn at the end of the year, while the frgures by product’ represent the annual
eaverage ‘as “this prnvrdes a better indication of the fevel of invested caprtal

Caprtal addrtrons represefit the total’ cost incurred to acqguire property, plant and
equzpment. mtangrble assets and goodwrfl mclucﬁmg these arising: frem business
‘combinations, Capital expendlture represents the mves ‘,ent in- property, plant and
'equlpment only. - B

Unallocated items represem :tems whose allocatton m a segment or: produc:t would ‘
be arbrtrary They mainly comprise: R
- corporate expenses and related assets:flral:nl:‘eesi :
- research and development costs and reiated assets/lrabr!mes and
- some goodwilt and. mtangible assets. S
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3. Analyses by segmaent

3.1 Operating segments
Revenue and results

In millions of CHF

2017
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3. Analyses by segment

invested capital
and other information

tn millions of CHF
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3. Analyses by segment

3.2 Products
Revenue and resuits

In millions of CHF

)]
f=]
ey
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8805 1387 1237 o 1150} o 3B )
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Nutrition and Health Science 15287 2 961 2425 o teeEey 33 - (319)
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}

}

}

Unallocated items ) (2 3385 (2521 1183) (7) (29
Total 89 791 14 729 13 233 (1 496} (366) (673)

In millions of CHF
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operating profit &
operating profit
Net other trading
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of which
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of which
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Water . I A A .
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I
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3. Analyses by segment

Invested capital
and other information
In millions of CHF

2017

nen-commerclahised

Invested capital
Goodwift and
intangible assets
Impairment of
goodwill and
intangible assets
Impairment of
intangible assets

1502 @ @
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Nutrition and Health Science . AT Lo ane 286 @
Prepared dishes and caoking aids . 2108 o 5500 L 2e
' ' 3026 1749 o @
3940 ) ioees - e

Unallocated items © and intra-group eliminations 1584 1900 {118)
Total 30 353 51 9317 {3 039) {152)
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3. Analyses by segment

3.3a Reconciliation from Underlying Trading operating profit to profit before
taxes, associates and joint ventures

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
Underlying Trading operating profit @ 14 729 14 307
Net other trading income/{expenses) {1 456} {614)
Trading operating profit 13 233 13 693
Impairment of goodwill and non-commercialised intangible assets S ..
Net other operating income/{expenses} excluding impairment of goodwill and
non-commercialised intangible assets (82) 9n
Operating profit 10 112 13 163
Net financial income/{expense) 619) (637)
Profit before taxes, associates and joint ventures 9493 12 526
{g} Trading operatng profi belore Net otnes Laaing nsome/lexpenses).
3.3b Reconciliation from invested capital to total assets
In millions ot CHF

2017 2016
Invested copital as per Note .1 I 29426 28740
Liabilities included in invested capital 24 154 23 301
Intangible assets and goodwillas per Note 3.1 e 50 363 .53 404
Other assets ' ‘ 26 437 26 456
Yotal assets 130 380 131 901

3.4 Customers
There is no single custorner amounting to 10% or more of Group's revenues.
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3. Analyses by segment

3.5 Geography

Sales and non-current assets in Switzerland and countries which individually represent
atleast 10% of the Group sales or 10% of the Group non-current assets are disclosed
separately. ,

The analysis of sales is stated by customer ocation.

Non-current assets relate to property, plant and eqmpmem intangible assets and
'goodwni Property, plant and equipment and mtang|ble assets are attributed to the
country of their legal owner. Goodwill ig attributed to the countries of the subsidiaries
where the related acquired business is operated.

in miflions of CHFE

2017 2016
Non-current Non-current
Sales assets Sales assets
_ 26678 C2es 26704 27436
Switzerland - . ..te2 15693 1475 14475
Rest of the wor!d 55 273 29095 B4 754 30 639
Total 89 791 78 138 89 469 80 958
85
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4. Net other trading and operating income/{expenses)

Other trading income/{expenses}
These comprise restructuring costs, impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets {other than goodwill and non-commercialised intangible assets),
litigations and onerous contracts, result on disposal of property, plant and equipment,
and specific other income and expenses that fall within the control of operating
segments.

Restructuring costs are restricted to dismissal indemnities and employee benefits paid
1o terminated employees upon the reorganisation of a business or function. It does not
include dismissal indemnities paid for normal attrition, poor performance professional
misconduct, etc.

Other operating 1ncomel(expenses)

These comprise impairment of goodwill and non- commercnallsed mtangible assets, resuits
on disposals of businesses (including impairment and subseguent remeasurement of
businesses classified as held for sale, as well as other directly related disposal costs like
restructuring costs directly linked 1o businesses disposed of and legal, advisory and other
professional fees), acquisition-related costs, the effect of the hyperinflation accounting,
and income and expenses that fall beyond the control of operating segments and relate
to events such as natural disasters and expropriation of assets.

4.1 Net other trading income/{expenses)

Iy millions of CHF

fealas 2017 2016
Other trading income 111 59
Restructuring costs o o .7 (300}
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ard intangible assets B (18 {201)
Litigations and onerous contracts™ B 3280 _{iss)
Miscellaneous trading expenses (88) {57)
Other trading expenses {1 607) {713)
Total net other trading income/{expenses) (1 496) 614)

cs [for eocrrpde labous, et and Lax hugastionsy and I ONerous
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4. Net other trading and operating income/{expenses)

4.2 Net other operating income/{expenses)

in millions-of CHF

Nages 2017 2016
Profit on disposal of businesses e e o i : 60 208
Miscellaneous operating income 319 151
Other operating income 379 354
Im;:alrment of goodwull and pgnwggmmerclaiised mtanglbie Assels B Bosey 1439
Miscellaneous operating expenses (269) (242)
Other operating expenses {3 500) (884)
Total net other operating incomef{expenses) {3121 (530)

5. Net financial income/{expense}

Net fmancxai lncomef{expense) mcludes net fmancmg cost of net fmancuai debt an{i net
interest incom xpense} on defined benef;t plans. - -
‘ Net fmancmg cost comprises the interest income earned on cash and cash equwalems
nd shortiderm invéstrments; as well as the interest expense on financial debt {c:o!lectwely
termed “net ﬁnancnal debt™). These headmgs also includé other’ mcome and -expense .
such as exchange differences on net flnanctal debt and results on related forelgn
currency and interest rate hedging instruments. Certain: borrowing costs are capitalised
as expiamed under. the section on Property, plant and equipment.

In milions of CHF

Notes 2017 2018
Interestincome - e e 122 1
interest expense {535} {543)
Net financing cost of net financial debt (413} {444}
Interest income on defined benefit plans . o L 30 - 22
Interest expense on defined benefit plans (231) {210)
Nat interest income/{expense) on defined benefit plans 14 {201) (188)
Cther (5 (5
Net financial income/{expense} (619 (637}
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017 87




6. Inventories

Raw materials and purchased finished goods are valued at the lower of purchase cost
caiculated using the FIFQ (first-in, first-out) method and net realisable value. Work in
progress, sundry supplies and manufactured finished goods are vatued at the lower

of their weighted average cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventeries includes
the gains/losses on cash flow hedges for the purchase of raw materials and finished
goods.

In millions of CHF

2017 2016

Raw materials, work in progress and sundry supplies 3864 3619
e e e e e e e , 5415 . Boos
Allowance for Write—d 0 net rea!lsabie va!ue l218} {226}
9 061 g 401

Inventorias amounting to CHF 289 million (2016: CHF 271 million) are pledged as security
for financial liabilities.
7. Trade and other receivables/payables
7.1 Trade and other receivables by type
In milions of CHF

2017 2016
Other receivables .2 223 2 388

12 422 12 411

The five major customers reprasent 12% {2016: 12%) of trade and other receivables,
none of them individually exceeding 7% {2016; 7%).

7.2 Past due and allowance for doubtful receivables

Allowances for doubtful receivables represent the Group's estimates of losses that
could arise from the failure or inability of customers to make payments when due
(excap‘t‘if due to commercial disputes, for example over pricing or prometions). These
estimates are based on the ageing of customers’ balances Specnflc cred:t circumstances
and the Group's histerical bad receivables experience.
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7. Trade and other receivables/payables

In millions of CHF

2017
] 10 965 -
- 851
245
) 108
Allowance for doubtiul receivables (348) {351}
12 422 12 411
Based on the historic trend and expected performance of the customers, the Group
believes that the above allowance for doubtful receivables sufficiently covers the risk ‘
of default. ’
7.3 Trade and other payables by type
i millions of CHF
2017 2016

Due within one year_

Trade payables .,12,899- ] M

Social security and sumirymtaxes an N‘_m_m ) o 3 o 223
Other payabies 3 892
18 872
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are shown on the balance sheet at their historical cost.
Depreciation is provided on components that have homogenous useful lives by
using the straight-line method so as to depreciate the initial cost down 10 the residual
value over the estimated useful lives. The residual values are 30% on head offices and

nil for alt other asset types.
The useful lives are as foliows:

Buildings 20 —-40 years
Machinery and equipment ) 10 - 25 years
Tools, furniture, information technology . ‘ o
and sundry equipment. , - 3-15 years
" Vehicles o S S | —10 years’

Land is not depremated
Useful lives, components and residual amounts are reviewed annually Such a review
takes into consideration the nature of the assets, their intended use including but not
limited to the closure of facilities and the evolution of the technology and compatitive
pressures that may lead to technical obsolescence.

Depreciation of property, plant and equiprnent is allocated 1o the appropriate headings
of expenses by function in the income statement.

Borrowing costs inGurred during the course of construction are capitalised if the assets
under construction are sugnlflcant and if their construction requires a substantial period
to Cemplete (typically more than one year) The capntahsat:en rate is detérmined on the
basis of the short:term borrowing rate for the period of construction. Premiums capitalised
fﬂr Ieasehoid land or buildings are amortised over the length of the lease Government
grants arg recogmsed as deferred income which is released to the income statemant
over the useful life of the related assets. ‘Grants that-are not related to dssets are credited
1o the income statement when they are received, if there is reascnable assurance that
the terms of the grant will be met.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

In miltions of CHF

Land and
buildings

Tools,

Machinery furniture
and and other
equipment equipment

Vehicles

Totat

At 1 January 2017 17 380

30166

731

55 930

Currency retranslations

96

Reclassification (tol/from held for sale e i21y) — -

Madification of the scope of consolidasio;:m 42

an ... 108
LY AL
S o S

T
(568) wn

27

(20 1

{34)

3934

(1187)
(847)
23

At 31 December 2017 18 048

31123 8018

57 819

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

At 1 January 2017 ] (5 727)

(16 708)

(28 376)

(480)

Currency retranslations (57 I

Depreciation

Impairments

Disposals . . 88

2

aeer ...

o9

i 3

LA
A7

wo s

(100)

(2 853)
 (366)
1074
58S
22

At 31 December 2017 {8 243)

{17 649) 15 724)

{30 044)

Net at 31 December 2017 11 805

13 474 2284

27775

Grossvalue
At 1 January 2016 15 359

52 899

Currency retranslations S O ¢ .20 3o 8

Capital expenditure ‘!

Maodification of thae scope of consolidation e {20}

365

4010
{1.215)
(83)
146)

At 31 December 2016 17 380

55 930

Accumulated depreciation and impairments
At 1 January 2016 {5 263}

(15 468)

(26 323)

Currency retranslations 158}

Disposals

Reclassification to/{from) held for sale 26

Modification of the scope of consolidation 7

43

{139

assy

4

i SR
709
L

1) R

(243)

(2795}

(157
1061
61
20

At 31 December 2016 {5 727}

{16 708} {5472}

{28 376)

Net at 31 December 2016 11 653

13 458 2181

27 554

8} Including borrowing cosis.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

At 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment include CHF 938 million of assets
under construction {2016: CHF 703 million). Net property, plant and equipment held
under finance leases amount to CHF 109 million {2016: CHF 133 million}. Net property,
plant and equipment of CHF 291 million are pledged as security for financial liabilities
{2016; CHF 301 million).

At 31 December 2017, the Group was committed 1o expenditure amounting to
CHF 527 million {2016: CHF 645 million).

Impairmaent of property, plant and equipment

Reviews of the carrying amount of the Group's praperty, plant and equipment are
performed when there is an indication of impairment. An indicator could be unfavourable
development of a business under competitive pressures or severe economic slowdown
in a given market as well as reorganisation of the operations to leverage their scale.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value, based on the time value of money and the risks specific to the country
where the assets are located. The risks specific to the asset are included in the
determination of the cash flows.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment arises mainly from the plans to optimise

industrial manufacturing capacities by closing or selling inefficient production facilities
{in 2017, mainly related 1o Nestlé Skin Health).
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recogmsed during a busmess combmatlon (see Note 2). Subsequently
it is measured at cost less impairment

lntangible assets
This. headmg mcludes mtangible assets that are mternally genérated or acquired, either
separately or in a business combination, when they are identifiable and can be reliably
measured. Internat Iy generated intangible assets {essentlally management information
system software) arg capltahsed provided that there is an identifiable’assat that will
be usefu! in generatmg future benefits in terms of savings, economies of scale, etc.
Payments made 1o third partles in ardeér to in-license or acquire intellectual property
rights, compounds and products are capltailsed as.non- commerenahsed mtangible
assets, as they are separately !denhfaable and aré expected 1o generale future benefits.’
Nan—commermalused mtanglble assets are not amortised, but tested for |mpa|rmem .
(see !mpalrment of goodwill and mtangnble assets below). An / impairment chargeis-
recorded in the consohdated income staterdent under Other operating expenses. They
lassified as commercialised intangibié Sets once developm nt is complsts,
hen apprcval for ‘sales has been granted by the relevant regulamry authonty
Indefm]te life, mtangmle assets’ mamlv comprise certam ‘brands, trademarks and
mteﬂectual préperty nghts They are not amortised but tested for mpaurment annually :
or fnore; frequently if an lmpalrment mdmator is tnggered The assessment of the S i
‘classification of |ntang|ble assets as indefinite is reviewed annually . '
Fmize life |mang|ble assets are amortised over the shorter of their contractual or usefu!
economic lives. They comprise mainly management lnformatlon systems, patents and
rights to catry on an activity (e:g. exclusive rights to sell products or to perfc)rm a supply
activity). Finite life intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis assuming - |
'a zZero resndual value: management information systems over penod rangmg from
3 to 5 yaars; other finite intangible.assets over the estimated useful life or the related 4
ccntractuai perlad generatly 5 to 20 years.or longer, dependmg on specnﬂc csrcumsxances
Useful llves and resu:iua] values are. rewewed annuaﬂy ‘Amortisation of f;mte hfe |ntanglble
assets starts when they are available for use and i s a!iocated to ‘the appropriate headmgs :
of expenses by funcnon in the income statemem :

Research and development co

fnternal research costs are charged to the income statement in the year in whlch they
are mcurred Development costs are only recognised as assets on the balance sheet if
all the recogmtron criteria set by IAS 38 - Intangible Assets are met before the products
are [aunched on the market. Development costs are generally charged to the income |
statement in the year in which they are incurred dueto uncertainties inherent in the
’development of new products because the expected future economic benefits cannot
be reliably determined. As long as the products have not reached the market place, |
there is no reliable evidence that positive future cash flows would be obtained. ’

Capitalised development costs are subsequently aocounted for as descrlbed in the
saection ntangible assets above.
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

in millions of CHF

Goodwill

Brands and
intellectual
property rights
QOperating
rights

and others
Management
information
systems

intangible

of which
internally
penerated

Grossvalue
At 1 January 2017

.0t which indefinite usefullite =
Currency retranstations

Expenditure

Disposals

Reclassification {to)/from heid forsale
Modification of the scope of consolidation #

(769)

.8
e84

At 31 December 2017

.. of which indefinite ussful life

__.0t which non-commercialised intangible assets -

@
4 447

Accumulated amortisation and impairments
At 1 January 2017

(3asa7m

4 e -

(465)

(4 384)

(3 307)

._..Bfwhich indefinite useful lfe
Currency retranslations

Amortisation

Impairmen e .
Disposals i _
Reclassification to/lfrom) held forsale

Modification of the scope of consolidation

3033

L R L S
3 3
B IO 52

@7

B0

{15)
BT

{158)

.

1
2

B 1.
2o
B L

2
L

At 31 December 2017

{4 867}

(3 561)

__of which indefinite useful life

of which non-commercialised ngible assets

®2 .

6

Net at 31 December 2017

17 125

20 615

of which indefinite useful life 1©

of which non-commercialised intangible assets

i anourts 1o

} 8 rrathon of 1o oreialisg

i Annysl mmparrm re parformed 10 Conneglo th goo
the fevel ot which tho tusts applied is the goodwitl CGU or lower,

94

o lelee

s 1o CHE 10 m

sl imeairment asls. Depending on tha items tested,
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

In miitions of CHF

2 -
23 2 > 2 é g o o
= = =] r-1 - >
: s8% s.8 Eif _%p Ent
§ &§To 25p 588 gsg 2
L] [ =Y (S0 ZE& =Ew® 3 =5
Gross value o - o ) o ) - -
At 1 January 2016 4118 23 268 3795
.. of which indefinite usefullite S .o 16460 i
Currency retranstations o - o o o 284
Expenditure - B, 328 682 _
Disposals o R ae (84)
Redlassification {toj/from held tor saie - e A1 223
Madification of the scope of consohdatson T {2) 408
At 31 December 2016 4 486 24 781
of whlchrmdef!mte useful life ) 16 233
e e 17
Accumulated amortisation and impairments e
At 1 January 2018 (3 174} (217) (375} {3 440) {4 032) {3 195)
.. Oof whichindefinite usefullite . - W8 L 09
Currency retranslations e 51) (54)
Amortisation ” B3 183
Impairments ) _ L 44 ¢
Dssposals o ri B
Modlflcatlon of the scope of consclidation e - 7 4 11 1
At 31 December 2016 (3 647} {315} (465) (3 604) {4 384) (3 307)
_ of which indefinite useful ife T O -
ot which non-commercialised mtanglbie assets o o — - o - —-
Net at 31 December 2016 33 007 17 132 2383 882 20 397
of which indefinite useful kfe o = W8 23 - 16 203
i i - 179

joodwatl rrmpamer
s appiied i3 the goodwill C5U or lower
At 31 December 2017, the Group was committed to expenditure amounting to
CHF 9 million (2016: CHF 10 million).

in addition to the above, the Group has entered into long-term agreements to

in-license or acquire intellectual property or operating rights from some third parties
or associates (related parties). If agreed objectives cr performance targets are achieved,
these agreements may require potential milestone payments and other payments by the
Group, which may be capitalised as non-commercialised intangible assets (see accounting
policy in Note 9 — Intangible assets).
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9, Goodwill and intangible assets

As of 31 December 2017, the Group's committed payments {undiscounted and not risk-
adjusted) and their estimated timing are:

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
Potential Potential
Unconditional milestone Unconditional milestone
commitments payments Total commitments payments Total
Withinoneyear 2 .8 BT T e L
In the thlrd and fourth vear e Al 284 00— g 268
Thereafter - 1198 1198 1290 1290
Total 2 1723 1728 — 1725 1728
__ofwhich related parties | T V105 105 LAer 1167

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets {inciuding non-commercialised
intangible assets)

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite {ife or not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually and when there is an indication of impairment. Finite life
intangible assets are tested when there is an indication of impairment.

The annual impairment tests are performed at the same time each year and at the
cash’generating unit (CGU} level. The Group defines its CGU for goodwill. impairment. -
testing based on the way that it monitors and derives economic benefits from the
‘acquired goodwﬂl For indefinite life intangible assets, the Group defines its CGU as

‘the smallest identlﬂable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Finally, the CGU
for impairment test of non-commercialised intangible assets is defined at the level of
the intangible asset itself. The impairment tests are perfarmed by comparing the carrying
value of the assets of these CGU with their recovarable amount, based on their value in
use, which corresponds to their future projected cash flows discounted at an appropriate
pre-tax rate of return. Usually, the cash flows correspond to estimates made by Group
Management in financial plans and business strategies Covenng a period of five years
after making adjustments to consider the assets in their current condltlon They are then
projected to perpetuity usmg a multiple which corresponds to a steady or declining growth
rate. The Group assesses the uncertainty of these est:mates by making sensitivity -
‘analyses. The discount rate reflects the current assessment of the time value of morney
and the risks specific to the CGU (essen‘ually country risk). The businass risk is included
in the determination of the cash flows Both the cash flows and the discount rates
include inflation. 4 '
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is never subsequently reversed.
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8. Goedwill and intangible assets

9.1 Impairment

9.1.1 Impairment charge during the year

The 2017 impairment charge mainly relates to the Nestle Skin Health CGU and other
various non-significant impairments of goodwill (predeminantly in Zone ACA} and
intangible assets (predominantly in Unallocated items).

The Nestle Skin Health CGU is composed mainly of goodwill and intangible assets.
These have arisen mainly from the acquisitions in 2014 of the remaining 50% stake in
Galderma and of the commercialisation rights in the United States and Canada from
Valeant Pharmaceuticals International.

The annual impairment test for the Nestié Skin Health CGU was concluded during
year-end closing. This test was based on financial projections prepared after a complete
strategy review done by Nestlé Skin Health’s new management. The review looked at the
maturity and competitive environment of the worldwide skincare market and the mixed
results of recent new products launches, brand or geographic expansion. The analysis
drove substantial changes in Nestlé Skin Health’s portfolio and focus leading to significant
restructuring activities initiated in late 2017. These translated to revised forecasted sales
and margins, and a reduction of the period of cash flows projection to & years.

As a result, a goodwill impairment charge of CHF 2799 million has been recognised
under the heading Other operating expenses in the income statement. The 2017 carrying
armount of the Nestle Skin Health CGU now amounts to CHF 75669 million, which includes
CHF 332 million of goodwill and CHF 4621 million of intangible assets with indefinite
useful life.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation (see Note 9.1.2}. A discount rate of 8.7% {2016: 6.7%), impacted in 2017 by
the increase of the risk free rates and the weight of the different cash flows of the CGU,
was used in this calculation.

There was no significant impairment of the carrying amounts of other assets of the
CGU. The goodwill is included in the Other businesses segment disclosed in Note 3.1,

In 2016, there were various impairments of goodwill (predominantly in Zone AQA} and
intangible assets {predominantly in Unallocated items). None of them were individually
significant.

9.1.2 Annual impairment tests

Impairment reviews have been conducted for more than 200 items of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, allocated to more than 50 Cash Generating
Units {CGU).
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

The following five CGUs have been considered as significant either with regard to the total
goodwill or to the total intangible assets with indefinite useful life for which detailed results

are presented hereafter: Wyeth infant Nutrition, PetCare Zone AMS, Nestlé Skin Health,
DSD for Frozen Pizza and Ice Cream — USA and Nestlé Infant Nutrition.

In millions of CHF

2017 20186
o5 . o oE . o

Wyeth Infant Nuvition 4567 4508 9075 4624 4544 9168
PetCare Zone AMS 7812 379 8191 8180 397 8577
Nestlé Skin Health 332 Aezl 4953 3182 4653 7835
DSD for Frozen Pizza and lce Cream - USA 2485 1748 4234 2602 1831 = 4433
Nestlé Infant Nutrition 3673 1 299 4972 3851 1 359 5210
Subtotal 18 869 12 556 31 425 22 439 12784 3% 223
as % of total carrying amount 3% _ LT3 68%  88% %% T2%
Other CGUs T 10879 3632 14811 10568 3419 12 987
Total 29 748 16 188 45 936 33 007 16 203 49 210

tai After imparment {see Note 8.1.7).

For each CGUs, except for Nestlé Skin Health (see Note 9.1.1}, the recoverable amount
is higher than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount has been determined based
upon a value-in-use calculaticn. Cash flows have been projectad over the next 5 years.
They have been extrapolated using a steady or declining terminat growth rate and

discounted at a pre-tax weighted average rate.
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

The following table summarises the key assumptions for each significant CGU:

2017

Period of Annual Annual Terminal Pre-tax

cash flow sales margin growth discount

projections growth evolution rate rate

Wyeth Infant Nutiion . Byers | -V%hw06%  Stable . 32% 80%
PetCare Zone AMS .. Byears  2%t0d%  Dedlining  20%

%10 7%
~1% to 0% Improvement
1% ta 4%

Nestlé Skin Health
DSB for Frozen Pizza ar
Nestlé infant Nutrition

_Improvement

Improvement

2018

Period of Annuatl Annual Terminal Pre-tax
cash flow sales margin growth discount
projections growth evolution rate rate

Whyeth lnfant Netriton R 5 years 0% ta 7% tmproverment 3.2%

PetCare Zone AMS _Byears 3%t 5% Stable

Nestlé S—kin Health @ i0yeats  12%to 19% Improvement B%

DSD for Frozen Pizzg and Ice Cream - USA __byears W mprovement  15%  77%
Nestlé Infant Nutrition  _Byears 2% tod% Improvement  37%  11.1%

— The pre-tax discount rates have been computed based on external sources of information.

— The cash flows for the first five years were based upon financial plans approved by
Group Management which are consistent with the Group's approved strategy for this
period. They are based on past performance and current initiatives.

— The terminal growth rates have been determined to reflect the long-term view of the
nominal evolution of the business.

Management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key

assumptions would cause the CGU's recoverable amount to fall below the carrying value

of the CGUs except for:

— the CGU Nestté Skin Health for which any negative change would lead to further
impairment, and

— the CGU DSD for Frozen Pizza and Ice Cream — USA for which the following changes
in the material assumptions lead to a situation where the value in use equals the
cartying amaount:

Sensitivity

Sales growth {CAGR}
Margin improvement -

_ Decrease by 410 bagis points
...Decrease by 50 basis points

Terminal growth rate _ Decrease by 110 basis points

Pre-tax discount rate

ncrease
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10. Employee benefits

10.1 Employee remuneration

The Group's salaries of CHFF 12 350 million {2016: CHF 12 427 million} and welfare expenses
of CHF 4221 million {2016: CHF 4230 million) represent a total of CHF 16 571 million
(2016: CHF 16 717 million). In addition, certain Group employees are eligible to long-term
incentives in the form of equity compensation plans, for which the cost amounts t©

CHF 247 million {20186: CHF 227 million). Employee remuneration is allocated to the
appropriate headings of expenses by function.

10.2 Post-employment benefits

The liabilities of the Group arising from defined benefit obligations, and the related
current service cost, are determined using the projected unit credit method, Actuarial
advice is provided both by external consultants and by actuaries employed by the Group.
The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligations vary according
to the economic conditions of the country in which the plan is located. Such plans are
either externally funded {in the form of independently administered funds) or unfunded.
The deficit or excess of the fair value of plan assets over the present value of the defined
benefit obligation is recognised as a liability or an asset on the balance sheet

Pension cost charged to the income statement consists of service cost (current
and past service cost, gains and losses arising from curtailment and seltiement) and
administration costs {other than costs of managing plan assets), which are allocated to -
the appropriate heading by function, and nét interast expense or |ncome which is
presented as part of net financial mcome/(expense) The actual return less interest
income on plan assets, changes in actuarial assumptions, and differences between
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred are reported in other '
comprehensive income.

Some benefits are also provided by defined contribution plans. Contnbut:ons to such
plans are charged 1o the income statement as incurrad,

Certain disclosures are presented by geographic area. The three regtons disclosed are
Europe, Middle East and North Africa (EMENA), Arnericas (AMS) and Asia, Oceania and
sub-Saharan Africa {AOA). .. Each region includes the. correspondmg Zones as welf as the
portfcm of ‘the GMB activity in that region.

Pensions and retirement benefits

Apart from legally required social security arrangements, the majority of Group employees
are eligible for benefits through pension plans in case of retirernent, death in service,
disability and in case of resignation. Those plans are either defined contribution plans

or defined benefit plans based on pensicnable remuneration and length of service. All
pension plans comply with local tax and legal restrictions in their respective country,
including funding obligations.

The Group manages its pansion plans by geographic area and the major plans, classified
as defined benefit plans under IAS 18, are located in EMENA (Switzerland, United Kingdom
and Germany) and in AMS (USA). In accordance with applicable legal frameworks, these
plans have Boards of Trustees or General Assemblies which are generally independent
from the Group and are responsible for the management and governance of the plans.
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10. Employee benefits

in Switzerland, Nestlé's pension plan is a cash balance plan where contributions are
expressed as a percentage of the pensionable salary. The pension plan guarantees the
amount accrued on the members' savings accounts, as welf as a minimum interest on those
savings accounts. Al retirement date, the savings accounts are converted into pensions.
However, members may opt to raceive a part of the pension as a lump sum. Increases
of pensions in payment are granted on a discretionary basis by the Board of Trustees,
subject to the financial situation of the plan. To be noted that there is also a defined benefit
plan that has been closed to new entrants in 2013 and whose members below age 55 have
been transferred 1o the cash balance plan. This heritage plan is a hybrid between a cash
balance plan and a plan based on a final pensionabie salary. Finally, the Group has committed
to make additional contributions up to & maximum of CHF 440 million, in order to mitigate
the impact of changes in mortality and decrease in conversion rates.

In the United Kingdom, Nestlé's pension plan is an arrangement combining a defined
benefit career average section with salary revaluation plus a defined contribution section.
It should be noted that the defined benefit section was closed to new entrants during 2016.
In the defined benefit section members accrue a pension defined on the average of their
salaries during their career at Nestlé since 2010, The salaries are automatically revalued
according to infiation subject to caps. Pensions earned before 2010 are also revalued
according to inflation subject to a cap and similarly, pensions in payment are mandatorily
adjusted, as well. At retirement, there is a lump sum option. Up to 31 July 2017, members
employed before 1 July 2018 had the option to switch between the defined benefit section
and the defined contribution section. Finally, the funding of the shortfall of the Nestle UK
Pension Fund (a related party) is defined on the basis of a triennial independent actuarial
valuation in accordance with local regulations. In accordance with the last valuation,
an amount of GBP 89 million has been paid by Nestle UK Ltd during the year in accordance
with the agreed schedule of contributions. The undiscounted future payments after
31 December 2017 related to the shortfall amount to GBP 493 million {GBP 172 million
between 2018 to 2019, GBP 172 million between 2020 to 2021 and GBP 149 million in 2022).

Nestlé's pension plan in Germany is a cash balance plan, where members benefit
from a guarantee on their savings accounts. Contributions to the plan are expressed
as a percentage of the pensionable salary. Increases to pensions in payment are granted
in accordance with legal requirements. There is also a heritage plan. based on final
pensionable salary, which has been closed to new entrants in 2006.

In the USA, Nestlé's primary pension plan is non-contributory for the employees. The plan
is a pension equity design, under which members earn pension credits each year based on
a schedule related to the sum of their age and service with Nestlé. A member’s benefit is the
sum of the annual pension credits earned multiplied by an average earning payable as a lump
sum. However, in lieu of the lump sum, members have the option of converting the benefit
to a monthly pension annuity. The plan does not provide for automatic pension increases.

Post-employment medical benefits and other amployee benefits

Subsidiaries, principally in AMS, maintain medical benefit plans, classified as defined
benefit plans under IAS 19, which cover eligible retired employées. The obligations for
other employee benefits consist mainly of end of service indemnities, which do not have
the character of pensions.
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10. Employee benefits

Risks related to defined benefit plans

The main risks to which the Group is exposed in relation to operating defined benefit

plans are:

— mortality risk: the assumptions adopted by the Group make allowance for future
improvements in life expectancy. However, if life expectancy improves at a faster rate
than assumed, this would result in greater payments from the plans and conseguently
increases in the plans’ liabilities. In order to minimise this risk, mortality assumptions
are reviewed on a regular basis.

~ market and liquidity risks: these are the risks that the investments do not meet the
expected returns over the medium to long-term. This also encompasses the mismatch
between assets and liabilities. In order to minimise the risks, the structure of the portiolios
is reviewed and asset-liability matching analyses are performed on a regular basis.

As certain of the Group's pension arrangements permit benefits to be adjusted in the case

that downside risks emerge, therefore the Group does not always have full exposure to

the risks described above.

Plan amendments and restructuring events
Plans within the Group are regularly reviewed as to whether they are aligned with market
practice in the local context. Should a review indicate that a plan needs to be changed,
prior agreement with the local Board of Trustees or the General Assembly, the regutator
and, if applicable, the members, is sought before implementing plan changes.

Buring the year, there were individually non-significant plan amendments and restructuring
activities leading to curtailments. The related past service costs of CHF 84 million have been
recognised in the inccme statement primarily under marketing and administration costs.

Asset-liability management and funding arrangement
Plan trustees or General Assemblies are responsible for determining the mix of asset
classes and target allocations of the Nestlé's plans with the support of investment advisors.
Periodic reviews of the agset mix are made by mandating external consultants to perform
asset liability matching analyses. Such analyses aim at comparing dynamically the fair value
of assets and the liabilities in order to determine the most adequate strategic asset allocation.
The overall investment policy and strategy for the Group's funded defined benefit plans
is guided by the objective of achieving an investment return which, together with the
contributions paid, is sufficient to maintain reasonable control over the various funding
risks of the plans. As those risks evolve with the development of capital markets and
asset management activities, the Group addresses the assessment and control process
of the major investment pension risks. In order to protect the Group’s defined benefit plans
funding ratic and to mitigate the financial risks, protective measures on the investment
strategies are in force. To the extent possible, the risks are shared egually amongst the
different stakeholders,
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10. Employee benefits

10.2a Reconciliation of assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet

In miflions of CHF

2017 2016
.2 Bz e g8
S E B2y 2€ EE 3
B 5335 BE 53
§< 332 g 5% F%T z
o @ aEs 2 o g & Ea =
Present value of funded obligations | 52 27 409 201 . 2
Fair value of plan assels {24 691} 37}
Excess of liabilities/{assets) over funded obligations 2 691 27 2718 4 216
Present value of unfunded obligations 862 2018 2880 _ 7/5 2021 = 2796
Unrecognised assets 23 23 43 e 43
Net defined banefit liabilities/(assets) 3570 2045 5621 5 006 2 049 7 055
COther employes benefit Habilities 1 098 T 055
Net liabilities 6719 8110
"Reflected in the balance sheet as follaw » e e _ o
Employee benefit assets - ] 392)
Employee benefit liabilities 7 111
Net liabilities 6 719
10.2b Funding situation by geographic area of defined benefit plans
In mitlions of CHF
2017 2018
EMENA AMS AOA Total EMENA AMS ADA Total
Present value of funded obligations 20425 5247 1737 27408 20085 6285 _ 1913 27253
Fair value of plan assets (17675 (5341 (1675 (24691 (15985 (5261 {1791} (23 037)
Excess of liabilities/{assets) over funded
obligations 2 7560 {94} 62 27118 4 070 24 122 4216
Prosent value of unfunded obligations 472 2082 32 2880 421 2099 276 2796
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10. Employee benefits

10.2¢c Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations

In millions of CHF

2017 2016

Defined benefit
retirement plans

Post-employment
dical benefits
Defined benefit
retirement plans
Post-employment
dical benefits
and other benefits

Total

At 1 January

o | me
L ime

N

30 049

3
~J
-
-
[=
Y

... of which funded defined benefitplans
..ot which unfunded defined benefitplans

Curmency retranslations e 31B
Service cost e v ... 689

_of which current service cost

_ofwhichpastsenvioscost . @

Interes

Actuarial {gainsilosses I L 1aa

Benefits paid on funded defined benefit plans

Benefits paid on unfunded defined benefit plans : I U 'f"f:

Modification of the scope of consolidation

Reclessification to/(from) held for sale _ . 5 .

if5 | &3 | and other benefits

‘o

27283
2786 B

339
74
B3s B
4 )
760
200
(1489
202y .
)

(1113
el
@)

(29)

LR

Transfer from/(to} defined contribution plans

(108}

At 31 December

30 288 27 976

of which funded defined benefit plans

27409 27201

__otwhich unfunded defined benefitplans =~

104

2880
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10. Employee benefits

10.2d Movement in fair value of defined benefit plan assets

In millions of CHF

2017 2016

e 8 o o8

-~ 2 ¢ &% - 8 3 L%

£S5 £E5 2 %5 £EF 2

c o Zs 2 ca Zs 2

D = [

8 £ '5..8 5 © g _a..g 5

TE E3s BE 3%
E 8 g = E & -5 2 =
BE 2972 s ik 29T 2
ag a &5 = ag a&s =
At 1 January 23 012) {24) {23 037) {22 353) (25) (22 378)
Curreney retranslations ... B8 0] f32n 566 Uy 868
Interestincome o S . S S -1 B 1) B 1834
Actual return on plan assets, excluding interestincome {1 68%) 1694 (1429 . (1425)

14 . sy

Employees’ contributions _
{8477

Employer contributions

(553) __ ¢

of , L1484 5 1a88 1
;\"dmims ra - e o o 21 - 21
Medification of the scape of consolidation S S .
Reclas:sification to/{from} held for sale e o - - }
Transfer {fromfto defined contribution plans 106 — 106 606 - 606
At 31 December (24 656} {35} (24 691} 23 013) {24} {23 037

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets of the Group's
defined benefit plans are as follows:

Equities

_of Whichml,-ﬁguequitié-sm

_...0f which European equities

_._of which other equities
erts

. Of which private equities

_. _of which commadities

Cash/Deposits

Equity, government debts and commodities represent 60% (2018: 60%} of the plan assets.
Almost all of them are quoted in an active market. Corporate debts, real estate, hedge funds
and private equities represent 35% (2016: 36%;) of the plan assets. Almost all of them are
either not quoted or quoted in a market which is not active.
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10, Employes benefits

The plan assets of funded defined benefit plans include property occupied by subsidiaries
with a fair value of CHF 23 miillion {(2016: CHF 26 million). Furthermore, funded defined
benefit plans are invested in Nestlé S.A. {or related) shares to the extent of CHF 35 million
{2016: CHF 38 million). The Group's investment management principles allow such
investment only when the position in Nestlé S A, {or related} shares is passive, i.e. in line
with the weighting in the underlying benchmark.

The Group expects to contribute CHF 715 million to its funded defined benefit plans
in 2018.

10.2e Expenses recognised in the income statement

In milions of CHF

2017 2018

=g 2E2% =8  2£%

22 £%s g2 Ees

D e = _8 - [-F ] - ,8 =

o0 [=% L c [= R

- @ E=2 o 2 g2

B £ 8% 3 E 5T E

£ g L5 9 = EL &35 2 =

% E g22® 5 T 82F 3

o P a £ = [a ] a E g [
Service cost e 689 %2 ter 798 BV 848
Employees’ contributions 04wy - nany 488 - (138
Netinterest (incomelfexpense — 8o _...1 L9 87 188
Administration expsnses 21 21 21 — 21
Defined benefit expenses 659 163 822 772 148 920
Defined contribution expenses 335 325
Total 1157 1 245

The expenses for defined benefit and defined contribution plans are allocated to the
appropriate headings of expenses by function.
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10. Employee benefits

10.2f Remeasurement of defined benefit plans reported in other comprehensive

income

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
2,8 2.2
52 352 §e 558
£ 2i: £ i
28 133 s f5  2&% 3
8% L£E& 8 88 £E5 °
Actual return on plan assets, excluding interest income .8 1694 1427 2
Experience adjustments on plan liabilites 1 71} S ) R .12
cr L emographic assumptions on plan Kabilities o 5 54 {224 11 (2313)
Change in financial assumptions on plan fiabilities {318 165 88y a7sey (106 (1856)
Transfer from/{to} unrecognised assets and other 19 — 19 (13) - {(13)
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 1 560 {47) 1513 {309) {142 {451)
10.2g Principal financial actuarial assumptions
The pringipal financial actuarial assumptions are presented by geographic area. Each item
is a weighted average in relation to the relevant underlying component.
2016
AMS AQA Total
Discount rates I 45% 4% . 26%
C X3 of salary jnereases  1.7% 2.7% 4.6% ) . 2.4%
Expected rates of pension adjustments | 1.3% 0A% . 18% 1A%
Medical costtrendrates .. 53% . B5%
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10. Employee benefits

10.2h Mortality tables and life expectancies by geographic area for Group's
major defined benefit pension plans

Expressed in years
2017 2016

2017 2016

Life expectancy at age 65
for a male member

t ife expectancy at age 65
for a fernale member

Country Mortzlity table currently aged 65 currently aged 65

. United Kingdom___ N8 N8 2y w1
Germany

) 201 o 20 e 238

USA

Life expectancy is reflected in the defined benefit obligations by using mortality tables
of the country in which the plan is located. When those tables no longer reflect recent
experience, they are adjusted by appropriate loadings.

20 229
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10. Employee benefits

10.2i Sensitivity analyses on present value of defined benefit obligations

by geographic area

The table below gives the present value of the defined benefit obligations when major
assumptions are changed.

In millions of CHF
2017 2016

EMENA AMS AOA Total EMENA AMS AOA Total
20897 7529 2063 30289 20476 7384 2789 30049

Asreported

Discount rates __

2002 27964
2299 32426

28175 18878 6994
axn, | e || 7808

__ Decrease of B0 besis points k2
Expected rates of salary increases

Increase of 50 basis points

_.. Inorease of 50 basis paints 21084 739 2094 30548 20641 7449 2220 30310
Decreaseof 50 basispoints 20742 7268 2035 30045 20324 7822 2161 29807

Expected rates of pension adjustments
_increase of 60 basis points

31582 21634 7442 2250 31326

22074 7384

Decrease of 50 basis points .. 20264 29 599 19869 7321 2171 29361

Medical cost trend rates
__Increase of 50 basis points

30344 20476 7434 2191
30238 20475

Decrease of 50 basis P?},n_tfm.; 7 340 2187

Mortality assumption -

 Setting forward the tablé_g;__p_\,_{__l’year 7
_ Setting back the tables by 1 year

1174 2168 75 2220

Al sensitivities are calculated using the same actuarial method as for the disclosed
present value of the defined benefit obligations at year-end.

10.2] Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations
by geographic area

Expressed in years
2017 2016
EMENA AMS ACA Total EMENA AMS AQA Total
9s 12 Jd2e ey o 5

At 31 December
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11. Provisions and contingencies

Provisions ) ] .
Provisions comprise liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that arise from restfucturin'g
plans, environmental, litigation and other risks: Provisions are recognised when a legal
or constructive obligation stemming from a past event exists and when the future cash
outflows can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures unless the impact of discounting is immaterial. Obligations arising from
restructuring plans are recognised when detailed formal plans have been established
and when there is a valid expectation that such plans will be carried out by either starting
to implerment them or announcmg their main features. Obligations under itigation reflect
Group Management's best estimate of the outcome based on the facts known at the
balance sheet date.

Contmgent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities are possible rlghts and obllgatlons that arise from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not fully within the control of the Group. '

11.1 Provisions

In millions of CHF

Restructuring Environmental Legal and tax Other Total
At 1 January 2017 583 27 2118 532 3260
Currency retransiations o 19 AN (35} 5 1y
Pravisions made during the year @ - 69 2 44 W ) I 198
Amountsused SN v L L <. S  (583)
Reversal of unused amoums ) sy oy {572}
Madification of the scope of consolzdatlon - - 17
At 31 December 2017 929 25 3 308
... 0of which expected to be sefiled within 12 _ . . S 863
At 1 January 2016 459 21 2 087 598 3185
Currency retranslations R _ B7
Provisions made during the \[ear ~ - 895
Amoumsused . - (a64)
eversal of u 1395)
Modification of the scope of consolidation e (39
At 31 December 2016 583 27 2118 532 3 260
__of which expected to be settled within 12 menths 620

{a} Inclugirg qenounting ol provisons,
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11. Provisions and contingencies

Restructuring

Restructuring provisions arise from a number of projects across the Group. These include
plans to optimise production, sales and administration structures, mainly in the geographies
EMENA {in 2017, mainly related to Nestlé Skin Health) and AMS (in 2017, mainly in USA).
Restructuring provisions are expected to result in future cash outflows when implementing
the plans {usually over the following two to three years}.

Legal and tax

Legal provisions have been set up to cover legal and administrative proceedings that
arise in the ordinary course of the business. Tax provisions incluge tax disputes and income
tax uncertainties. It covers numercus separate cases whose detailed disclosure could be
detrimental to the Group interests. The Group does not believe that any of these cases will
have a material adverse impact on its financial position. The timing of outflows is uncertain
as it depends upen the outcome of the cases. Group Management does not believe it is
possible to make assumptions on the evolution of the cases beyond the balance sheet date.

Other

Other provisions are mainly constituted by onerous contracts and various damage claims
having occurred during the year but not covered by insurance companies. Onerous
contracts result from unfavourable leases, breach of contracts or supply agreements
above market prices in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
contracts exceed the economic benefits expected 1o be received or for which no benefits
are expected to be received.

11.2 Contingencies
The Group is exposed to contingent liabilities amounting to a maximum potential
payment of CHF 2024 million (2016: CHF 1893 million) representing potential litigations
of CHF 1979 million (2018: CHF 1874 millicn) and other items of CHF 45 miltion
{2016: CHF 19 million). Potential litigations relate mainly to labour, civil and tax litigations
in Latin America.

Contingent assets for litigation claims in favour of the Group amount t0 a maximum
potential recoverable amount of CHF 461 million {2016: CHF 201 million), mainly in
Latin America.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestié Group 2017
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12. Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs. However when a financial asset at fair value to income statement is recognised,
the transaction costs are expensed immediately. Subseguent remeasurement of financial
assets is determined by their categorisation that is revisited at each reporting date.

The settlement date is used for both initial recognition and subsequent derecognition
of financiat assets as these transactions are generally under contracts whose terms
require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or conventlon in the
market place (regular-way purchase or sale).

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether its financial assets are to
be impaired. Impairment josses are recognised in the income statement where there
is objective evidence of impairment, such as where the | |ssuer isin bankruptcy, default
or other significant financial difficulty. -

Financial assets are derecognised {in full or part!y) when substant!aily all tha Group’s
rights to cash flows from the respective assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has neither exposure to substantially all the risks lnherem in those assets
nor entitlement to rewards from them.

Classes and categories of financial instruments

The Group classifies its financial instruments into the following categones loans

and receivables, financial assets designated at fair value through income statement,
held-for-trading, available-for-sale assets and financial fiabilities at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables : :

Loans and receivables are non- ~derivative fmanclai assets w;th fixed or determmable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. This category includes the followmg
classes of financial assets ioans, trade and other recewables, and cash aT bank and '
in hand. o

Subsequent to initial measurement, Ioans and recewables are carried at amortlsed

¢ost using the effective interest rate ‘method less appropnate allowances for doubtful
-receivables (see Note 7. 2) :

Fmanc&al instruments at falr vaiue through mcama statement

Certain financial assets are dBS|gnated at fair value through mcome statement because

this reduces an account;ng mismatch which would otherWISe arise due to the

remeasurement of certain liabilities using current market prices as inputs.
Held-for-trading assets and liabilities are derivative financial instruments. Subseguent

tg initial measurement, these items are carried at fair value and all their gams and losses,

realised and unrealised, are recognised in the income statement unless they are part

of a hedging relationship (refer to hedge -accounting, see Note 12.2d).

Available-for-sale assets

Available-for-sale assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are either
designated as such upon initial recognttlon or are not classified in any of the other
categories of financial assets, This category includes the following classes of financial
assets: bonds and bond funds, equities and eqwty funds commercial paper, time
deposits and other investments.
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12, Financial instruments

Subsequent to initial measurement, available-for-sale assets are stated at fair value with
all gains or losses recognised against other comprehensive income untit their d:sposal
when such gains or losses are recognised in the income statement.

interest and dividends from available- for—saie assets are recognised in the i income
statement ' : '

Fmanmal Ilabliltles at amomsed cost
Financial liabilities are unltlaliy reccgnlsed at the fa|r value of conmderaﬂon recelved
less directly-attributable transaction costs,

Subsequent to initial measurement, fmam:ral habllmes are recognised at amortlsed
cost. The dlfferEnce between the initial carrying amount gf the financial liabilities and
their redempﬂon wvalue is recognised in the income statement over the contractual
terms using the effectlve interest rate method. This, caiegory includes the following
classes of financial Ilab'lmes trade and other payab[es, commermal paper bonds and
other f:nancgai ||abmt;es .
| Financial liabilities at amortssed ccst .are further classn‘ied as current and non-current

-dep ding whether these w;ll fall dile wnthzn 12 months after the balance sheet date .

‘or beyond.
" Financial liabilities are derecognised {in full or partly) when elther the Group is
discharged fmm its obhganon 1hey expire, are cancelled ar repiasced by anew ilablllty
‘with substanually meodified terms.’
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12. Financial instruments

12.1 Financial assets and liabilities
12.1a By class and by category

In milliens of CHF

2017

2016

d liabilities at

Loans, receivables
amortised cost &

Classes

to income statement

At fair value

Available for sale

categorsies

to income statement

w
2
o
2

3

Q
e
"3
&
o
S
d

amortised cost &
Available for sale

At fair value

i |@N

=]
)

__Lashatbanksndwnhaned
... Commercial paper

A

__ Time deposits e e e
and debt f

_ Equityand equityfunds

Liquid assets ' and non-current
financial assats

Trade and other receivables

Derivative assets —

.. 54z
1747

14586
12422

231

s s

-
5]
@
Q

s
=
K]

-
[=
<

3

&

e
|
i

A8
LJZAY

Total financial assets

1084

27 249

16 987

Trade and other payables

Derivative liabilities !

RRCA 25 S
. {26468)

21374
(26 468)

{507)

Jlrowey -
{23208

_..f21018

_ 123 209)
{1 068)

Total financial liabilities {47 842)

{507} ~

{48 349)

{44 225)

{45 293)

Net financial position {32 495)

577

10 818

{21 100)

{27 238)

{17 317)

. 0f which at fair value

Carrying amount of thesp ins

stives noid i haedge relationshins and te
seo Mot 12,24,

114

hat are urdesignate

577

tments.
gorised as held-tor-tradings,

LJO818

13935

9 921

n bnanc gl oot
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12. Financial instruments

12.1b Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

The Group c]assrfres the fair value of its financial lnstruments in the following hrerarchy,

based on the inputs used in their: valuation:
i} The fair value of financial mstruments guoted in actlve markets is based on their
quoted closing price at the balance sheet date. Examples include exchange-traded
commodity derivatives and other flnanmai assets such as mvestments in equity and
deht securities.
“The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an act:ve market is
_determined by using valuation techniques using observable market data. Such’
‘valuation techmques include discounted cash flows, standard valuation medels
‘based on market parameters for mterest rates, yield curves or forgign exc:hange
' ;'rates ciealer quor&s “for similar instruments. and use of comparabte arm's length
transactions.-For example ‘the fair value of. forward exchange contracts, currency
syvaps and mterest rate swaps is deterrmned by drscountrng estamated fumre cash
’flows, y

ul} The fa;k 'value of fmancral |ns£rumen"ts that are measured on the basrs of entrty

Baaid

- {u obsarvable anputs) When :he fair value, of unquoted mstruments cannot be.
Kmeasured with sufﬁcrem relrabzhty, the Group cames Such mstmments at cost éss
impairment, if appllcable. ‘

In miilions of CHF

Denvatlve assets

Bcnds and debt funds
Equity and equity funds .
Other financial assets

Derivative liabilities

Prices quoted in active markets {Level 1)

ggmmercialﬂprapgrw ) o 4 600

Tirne P - N R 1331 N

Derivative assets » ~ o 7 220 -

Bonds and debt o o o 3417

Other financialassets '

Derivative liabilities (442) {968}
Valuation techniques based on observable market data (Level 2) 10 187 8 750

Valuation technigues based on unobservable input {Level 3} 258 241

Total financial instruments at fair value 11 395 5921

There have been no significant transfers between the different hierarchy levels in 2017

and in 2016.
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12. Finangial instruments

12.1c Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

tn millions of CHF
2017 2016
At 1 January (23 8b0) {21 923}
125
Changes in fair values -
. as
ivatives - o S DA
(6408 (169%)
Outflows from bonds and other non-current financiel debt 2489 1430
Inflows/{outflows) from current financial debt 1009 {1 368}
At 31 December {26 637) {23 850}
{10538 {12 118

ent financial debt ff, (5932 {11091}

L RN - oLl

Currency retranslations and exchange differences

Changes arising from acquisition and disposal of businesses
Inflows fram bonds and other non-current financiat debt

outflows) on inte

. .of which current financial debt |

f _ of which

....of which derivatives hedging financial debt
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12. Financial instruments

12.1d Bonds

In millions of CHF

Issuer

Face value
in millions

Coupon
ffective
interest

maturity

Year of
issue/

Nestlé Holdings, Inc., USA

AUD

4.00%

Nok .1
L. NOk 3
. usb

i

G § s
N
Bile 8
Si00

300

1.38%

o A1%  2012-2017
) L Z25% | 231%
o 2.50%

.2012-2017
2012-2017

GBP

250

1.63%

~CHE

.. 250

263%  266% 20

1.25%

378%

2.88%

20132018

1.38% 15

2.00%

3% ... 433%  2013-2018

. _2013-2018

2013-2019

2.25%

_2.00%
2.13%

GBP ¢

_ 275%

4.25%

~2013-2019

o 20142019 39
20142020
280142020 fa}

363% 37

1.75%

2016-2021

2016-2021

B _ USD 550 1.88%  2.03%
I .. usb 600 1.38%  1.52%
I ) . _.... GBP_ BOO  100%  117%

usp

800

2.38%

959,

__238%

2.25%

o

0.55%

20172021 ®
20172022
G ) 20 22 o

0 2017-2025

- 0.54%

_2017-2027
20172032
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12. Financiat instruments

In millions of CHF

D@
2§ c g
-
g2 g Z£8 5
= =3 o £ w
S E 3 3o 5
o Q :1:‘&“'6 .3
lssuer W & [+ wEeE >

Z £
3 5 £
28 g
ER= 3 2017

Subtotal from previous page

9993

Nestlé Finance International Ltd., Luxembourg _AUD 125 4.63%  486%  2012-

. EUR 500 075% _ 090% 2014

© T8s0 175%

2016-2023

20 583

986

2029 B

- ) ] 400 2.25% 2.

o . . . . L.B00  0.78% .. 2015
— 500 038% L2617-
_ e 750 1.28% Ho2017-

. RuR 7RO 17B% 183% 2017

Other bonds

2037 ... B8S

254

5499
. b8
2026 678

2017 - %
2012-2019 &3

B00  213%  220% 20132001 582 5%
2021 Bl

Total carrying amount (7

17 009

_of which due within one year

_ .ot which due after one year

Fair value " of bonds, based on prices quoted

1 Carrying amount and lair value of bonds waodude acorisd intsrast

(a} B a and/or currency swap tha 2les a Handity at floaing ratse in the cur-ency of the issuer.
b e @ and currency swap that cregtes a lability of fixed rates in the currency of the 1ssuar
npason of!

ol ¢
200 rmillor subjest i an interest rale and currency swap 1hat creates a liabidity at fixed rates i ihe currency of the
LT

Frlhor sobpect 10 an interest ale and currenoy swan that oreates g labibty 2t fisuting raes i the cutrency

& is5uer
s beir

GHP 4

he ourrency oF
e} Subjectto
# Cuial whi

Several bonds are hedged by currency and/or interest derivatives. The fair value of these
derivatives is shown under derivative assets for CHF 144 million {2016: CHF 98 million) and
under derivative liabilities for CHF 265 million (2016: CHF 797 million).

12.2 Financial risks

In the course of its business, the Group is exposed te a number of financial risks: credit
risk, liquidity risk, market risk {including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk,
commodity price risk and equity price risk). This note presents the Group’s objectives,
policies and processes for managing its financial risk and capital.

Financial risk management is an integral part of the way the Group is managed. The
Board of Directors determines the financial control principles as well as the principles
of financial pianning. The Chief Executive Cfficer organises, manages and monitors all
financial risks, including asset and liability matters.

LS
15 289

17350
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12. Financial instruments

The Asset and Liability Management Commitiee {ALLMC), chaired by the Chief Financial
Officer, is the governing hody for the estahlishment and subsequent execution of the
Nestlé Group's Financial Asset and Liability Management Policy. It ensures implemeantation
of strategies and achievement of objectives of the Group's financial asset and liabilities
management, which are executed by the Centre Treasury, the Regional Treasury Centres
and, in specific local circumstances, by the subsidiaries. Approved treasury management
guidelines define and classiy risks as well as determine, by category of transaction, specific
approval, execution and monitoring procedures. The activities of the Centre Treasury and
of the Regiconal Treasury Centres are supervised by an independent Middle Office, which
verifies the compliance of the strategies and/or operations with the approved guidelines
and decisions taken by the ALMC.

12.2a Credit risk

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its coniractual obligations
resulting in financial foss to the Group. Credit risk arises on financial assets {liquid, non-
current and derivative) and on trade and other receivables.

The Group aims to minimise the credit risk of liquid assets, non-current financial assets
and derivative assets through the application of risk management policies. Credit limits
are set based on each counterparty’s size and risk of default. The methodology used to set
the credit limit considers the counterparty’s balance sheet, credit ratings, risk ratios and
default probabilities. Counterparties are monitored regularly, taking into consideration
the evolution of the above parameters, as well as their share prices and credit default
swaps. As a result of this review, changes on credit limits and risk allocation are carried
out. The Group avoids the concentration of credit risk on its liquid assets by spreading
themn over several institutions and sectors.

Trade receivables are subject to credit limits, control and approval procedures in all the
subsidiaries. Due to its large geographic base and number of customers, the Group is
not exposed to material concentrations of credit risk on its trade receivables {see Note 7).
Nevertheless, commercial counterparties are constantly monitored following the similar
methodology used for financial counterparties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk resulting from financial activities, without

considering netiing agreements and without taking into account any collateral held or
other credit enhancements, is equal to the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets.
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12. Financial instruments

Credit rating of financial assets

This includes liquid assets, non-current financial assets and derivative assets. The source
of the credit ratings is Standard & Poor’s; if not available, the Group uses other credit rating
equivalents. The Group deals mainly with financial institutions located in Switzerland, the
European Union and North America.

I millions of CHF

2017 2016

Investment grade A-andabove . _ s o tesez 10845
Investment grade BBB+, BBE and BBB-- . . — 2047 2366
Not rated © 1 281 1226
14 827 15 565

{a: Mainly squity securities and other investments for which no eredit rating is availacies.

12.2b Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that 2 company may encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations

associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets.

Such risk may result from inadequate market depth or disruption or refinancing problems.

The Group’s objective is 1o manage this risk by limiting exposures in financial instruments

that may be affected by liquidity problems and by maintaining sufficient back-up facilities.

The Group does not expect any refinancing issues and in October 2017 successfully

extended the tenor of both its revolving credit facilities by one year:

- A new USD 4.7 billion and EUR 2.5 billion revolving credit facility with an initial maturity
date of October 2018. The Group has the ability to convert the facility into a one year
term loan.

— A USD 3.0 billion and EUR 1.8 billion revolving credit facility with a new maturity date
of October 2022,

The facilities serve primarily as a backstop to the Group’s short-term debt,
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2017

2016

12. Financial instruments

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities and derivatives {including interest)

tn millions of CHF

g 5 -

5 > 5 > £

: z g £ e

z g ® E = £

w0 Q =¥ =1

= Q £ = o < =]

- o = = = g € &

@ o oo p 25 =

£ £ ££ & £ g

< < £2 g 8§ 8

Trade and other payablas {18 872} {136} {118) (2 250) {21 378) {21 274)
Commercial paper @ o 4872 - , (6727 B716)
Bondsei L Roie @2 B (5613 (18468 (17009)
Gther financial debt {3179) {418} {230) (61} {3 888) {3 743}
Total financial debt {10 922) (2 630) {8 857} {5 674) (28 083} {26 468)
Financial liabilities {excluding derivatives) {29 794} (2 766} {8 975) {7 924} {49 458) {47 842}
Non-currency derivativeni;g‘;ﬁia‘tfww nnnnnn 24 8 10 3 % 44
Non-currency derivative labilities o {8} ey 1) e L 5 124)

Gross amount receivable from currency derivatives 10 497 46 183 1734 14 108 13983
Gross amount payable from currency derivatives {10 654) 97 2112) {1867} (14 737%) (14179
Net derivatives (232) (59} {282) {130} {703} {276)
___of which derivalives under cash flow hedges®™ R £ - A ) R o ss 138y
Trade and other payablas {18 629) {149) {356) {1 825) {21 059 {21 016}
Commercialpaper® {7180) e T e T i e AT1BO U7
Bonds® e e e e, 22100 A1 956)  {B938)  (2204) (13308} {12435}
Other financiaj debt {3 092} {118) {478} (88} {3 776) (3 603}
Total financial debt (12 482) (2 074) {7 416} {2 292) (24 264) (23 209)
Finangcial liabilities {(excluding darivatives) {31 111) (2 223} {7 772} {4 217} {45 323} (44 225)
1300 Zn o es 186)  (183)

. S i B 3 L 12 18307

{14 511) (1017 (1383, - (16 611) {16767

{124) {157} (281) 5 {557} {518)

B 1) ¢ - B 34 A 11

F 4728 milio o 2016, CHF 171 mpliont

hree me

12.2¢ Market risk

The Group is exposed to risk from movements in foreign currency exchange rates, interest
rates and market prices that affect its assets, liabilities and future transactions.
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12. Financial instruments

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk from transactions and translation.

Transactional exposures arise from transactions in foreign currency. They are managed
within a prudent and systematic hedging policy in accordance with the Group's specific
business needs through the use of currency forwards, futures, swaps and options.

Exchange differences recorded in the income statement represented a loss
of CHF 99 million in 2017 (2016: loss of CHF 147 million). They are allocated to the
appropriate headings of expenses by function.

Transfation exposure arises from the consolidation of the financial statements of foreign
operations in Swiss francs, which is, in principle, not hedged.

Value at Risk {VaR} based on historic data for a 250-day period and a confidence level
of 95% results in a potential one-day loss for currency risk of less than CHF 10 million
in 2017 and 20186.

The Group cannct predict the future movements in exchange rates, therefore the above
VaR number neither represents actual losses nor considers the effects of favourable
movements in underlying variables. Accordingly, the VaR number may only be considered
indicative of future movements to the extent the historic market patterns repeat in the
future,

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed primarily to fluctuation in USD and EUR interest rates. Interest rate
risk on financial debt is managed based on duration and interest management targets set
by the ALMC through the use of fixed rate debt and interest rate swaps.
Taking into account the impact of interest derivatives, the proportion of financial debt
subject to fixed interest rates for a period longer than one year represents 59% (2016: 45%).
Based ¢n the structure of net debt at year end, an increase of interest rates of 100 basis
points would cause an additional expense in Net financing cost of net debt of CHF 29 million
{2016: CHF 48 million;.

Price risk

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk arises from transacticns on the world commeodity markets for
securing the supplies of green coffee, cocoa beans and other commodities necessary
for the manufacture of some of the Group's products.

The Group's objective is to minimise the impact of commodity price fluctuations and
this exposure is hedged in accordance with the Nestlé Group policy on commaodity price
risk rmanagement. The Global Procurement Organisation is responsible for managing
commodity price risk on the basis of internal directives and centrally determined limits,
generally through the use of exchange-traded commodity derivatives. The commodity
price risk exposure of future purchases is managed using a combination of derivatives
{mainly futures and options} and executory contracts. As a result of the short product
business cycle of the Group, the majority of the anticipated future raw material transactions
outstanding at the balance sheet date are expected te occur in the next year.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk on investments. To manage the price risk
arising from these investments, the Group diversifies its portfolios in accordance with
the Guidelines set by the Board of Directors.
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12. Financial instruments

12.2d Derivative assets and liabilities and hedge accounting

Derivative fmancla[ instruments .

The Group's derivatives mainly consist of: currenoy forwards optuons and swaps
commaodity futures and Gptions; interest rate forwards, futures, options and swaps.
Derivatives are mamly used to manage exposures to foreign exchange, mterest rate
and commodlty price rigk as described i in section 12.2¢ Market risk.

“Derivatives are |n|t1a!Iy recognised at fair value, They are subsequently remeasured
at fair value on a regular basis and at each reporting.daté as a minimum, with all their
gains and losses, realised and unrealissd, recognlsed in'the mcome statement unless
they are ina quahfylng hadgmg relatlonshjp o .

Hsdge accountmg

assets or f|nanczal Irabrhnes as hedgmg ms’rruments agamst changes in falr values of
frecogmsad assets and liabilities (fair value hedges) and htghly prcbable forecaSI e

wansattions (cash flow hedges) The effectweness of such hedges i is assessed at mcep’uon,

and ver;fned at regular intervals and at ieast Qn a quarterly bas:s usmg prospect:ve and
retrospectlve :esttng ’

Fair value hedgas :
The Group uses fair value hedges o m:trgate foresgn currency and mterest rate nsks of
its rscogmsed asgets and liabilities,

© Changss in fair va[ues of hedging’ mstruments demgnated as fair value hedges and
the. adjustments for the risks bemg hedged in'the’ carrymg amounts of the Lmderfymg
transacﬂons are recogmsed in- the lncome statement R : :

Cash ﬂow hedges . C - : e
The Group uses cash flow hedges to mlflgate a partfcufar nsk assocuated witha recogmsed
asset of Iuabmty or highly probahze forecast transactions, su ch as antlmpated future
export sales, purchases of equipment and raw matenais. as well as the variability of
expected interest payments and. recetpts.

The effective part of the changes in faur value of hedgmg lnstruments is recognlsed
in other' comprehensive income, while any ineffective part is recognised immediately
in the income statement. When the hedged item rasults in the recognition of a non-
f|nancral asset or liability, including acquired busmesses the gains or losses previously
recogmsed in other comprehens:ve income are mcluded in'the measuremenl of the
cost of the asset or of the liability. Otherwise the gains or losses prewously recagnised
in other comprehenswe income are removed ahd recognlsed in the mcome statement
at the same time as-the hedged transactlom g « . =

Undassgnated denvat:ves

Derivatives which are not designated ifi a hedglng relatronshup are classn‘xed as:
undemgnated derivatives. They are acquired if the frama of approved nsk management
policies even though hedge accounting is not applied.
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12. Financial instruments

By type

tn millions of CHF

2017 2018
W wan T -
§e¢ 8§, &8y gEz %, i
£ 03z > = > = 50 3 > 8 > =
- 58 53  §cg 5 g 52
goam w o W= U owc b @ . =
Curency forwardsandswaps o 2376 8 27 4563 202 2
Interest rate forwards, futures and swaps B L ..} 0
Interest rate and currency swaps - 423 - 113 285 2809 58 797
Currency forwards, swaps and options . o £847 oo 82 88 o7 et .81
Intere;':; rate forwards, futures and swaps B - 48 1432 - .81
Commodity futures and options_ 1488 1z 77 1547 85 102
Undesignated derivatives o o
e 675, 4 2 L
53 1 |
17 869 231 b07 20 222
Conditional offsets L o _
| Derivative assets and liabilities Lo uas e L o __ _4on
Use of cash collateral received or deposited {30) {210) 36) {652)
_ Balances after conditional offsets 0 U880 e L AR -
@} Beprosart amounts nease of deiouly, msolvency of ankrupley ©f counwrpartics,
Impact on the income statement of fair value hedges
In millions of CHF
2017 20186
on hedged ftems __ S . - e 75

Ineffective portion of gains/(losses) of cash flow hedges and net investment hedges is not
significant.

12.2e Capital risk management

The Group's capital management is driven by the impact on shareholders of the level of
total capital employed. It is the Group's policy 1o maintain a sound capital base to support
the continued development of its business.

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a prudent balance between different
components of the Group's capital. The ALMC monitors the capital structure and the
net financial debt by currency. Net financial debt is defined as current and non-current
financial liabilities less cash and cash eqguivalents and short-term investments.

The operating cash flow-to-net financial debt ratio highlights the ability of a business
to repay its debts. As at 31 December 2017, the ratic was 75.4% (2016; 112.0%).

The Group's subsidiaries have complied with local statutory capital requirements as
appropriate.
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13. Taxes

The Group is subject to taxes in different cbuntries all over the world. Taxes and fiscal
risks recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements reflect Group Management’s
best estimate of the outcome based on the facts known at the balance sheet date in
each individual country, These facts may include but are not limited to change in tax
laws and interpretation thereof in the various jurisdictions where the Group operates.

‘They may have an impact on the income tax as well as the resulting assets and liabilities.

Any differences between tax estimates and final tax assessments are charged to the
income statement in the period in Wh|ch they are incurred, unless antictpated
- Taxes include current and deferred taxes on profit as well as actual or potential

wn:h hotdmg 1axes on current and expected transfers of incarne from subsidiaries and tax

adjustrnents relating to prior years. lncome tax is recogmsad in'the income statement,
exoept to the extent that it relates to items dlrectiy takén to equity or other comprehenswe
'mcome in whmh case it IS recogmsed agalnst equ;ty or other comprehenswe !ncome
Deferred taxes are based on the temporary differences that arise when taxation -
'auth ontnes recogntse ‘and rmeasure assets and liabilities with rules that differ from the.
prmmples of the Consohdated Fina ncual Statemerits. They also arise on. temporary
differénces stemming from tax fosses carried forward, '
. Deferred taxes are calcuiated under the liabifity method at the rates of tax expected
to prevail when the temporary differences reverse subject 1o such rates being substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date. Any changes of the tax rates are recognised in the -
income statement unless related to iterns directly recognised against equity or other -
comprehensuve income. Deferred tax liabilities are recogmsed on all taxable temporary

differences exciudlng non—deducuble goodwﬂi ‘Déferred tax assets are recognlsed on

all deductible temporary d|fferences prewded that it'is probabte that future taxable -
income will be available. .~ o
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13. Taxes

13.1 Taxes recognised in the income statement

In millions of CHF

2017 2016

Deferred taxes thus! i L e
Taxes reclassified to other comprehensive income e e

Taxes reclassified to equity

@3y

__Bem
28 04

361 (234)

16 2

Total taxes

{2 779) (4 413}

Reconciliation of taxes

se at weighted average appficable tex rate

Tax effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items

Prior years’ taxes

Changes in tax rates ‘

Withholding taxes levied on transfers of incoms

Gies

(83) T en

B R
asy

823 8l
[491) {403}

Total taxes

{2 779) {4 413}

or years inclisde & tax | CHE 212 million 12016 oxincome of CHE 4 million:,

) Currenl laxes 1
} s ono-ime ~hargae of CHE G5 pillion relatan to deferred wax, arsing i Switzorkand, i socordanco

ol i 7018, 1hi

antonal fax favi, .
ey In 2 th m includes a one-ume ircome of CHF €.8 billior related to deferred tax, ansing in the USA in accordance
wilh Lhe federad tag retorm,

The expected tax expense at weighted average applicable tax rate is the result from
applying the domestic statutory tax rates o profits before taxes of each entity in the country
it operates. For the Group, the weighted average applicable tax rate varies from one year
to the other depending on the relative weight of the profit of each individual entity in the
Group’s profit as well as the changes in the statutory tax rates.
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13. Taxes

13.2 Reconciliation of deferred taxes by type of temporary differences
recognised on the balance sheet

tn millions of CHF

2
o
2 = 32
£% 25 g o £
3 =2 g £&°0¢ B3
ge g = £ 2828 22 £ £
o5 g & i S99 5 53 o e
At 1 January 2017 {1723 {3 248) 2 049 1060 340 (294} (1 816)
Currency retranslations o e e e o e 8 61
Deferred tax {expen e o B 384 {548} wny M4 B3 235
Modiication of the scope of consolidation {101} o 8 6 2 (72}
At 31 Decembar 2017 {1327 {2 895) 1482 1007 380 {233 {1 592)
At 1 January 2016 {1 755} {2 B20) 1709 1013 309 {176} {1420}
Currency retranslations . . 52} " 9 s R A 2
Deferred tax (expenseyincome 36 {r4n 299 0 12 | _13e {504)
Reclassification toffrom heldforsale 4 W @ 2 w8 3
Modification of the scope of consclidation 4 10 4} 8) 5 {2) 5
At 31 December 2016 {1723 {3 248) 2 049 1060 340 (294) {(1818)
In millions of CHF
2017 2016
Reflocted in the balance sheet as follows: e : R
Defarred tax liabilities {3 559) (3 865}
Net assets/{liabilities) {1 592) {1 816}
13.3 Unrecognised deferred taxes
The deductible temporary differences as well as the unused tax losses and tax credits for
which no deferred tax assets are recognised expire as follows:
In mittions of CHF
2017 2016
Betweenoneand fiveyears . . e —— B ..
Mare than five years 7 2 802 1943
3210 2 368
At 31 December 2017, the unrecognised deferred tax assets amount to CHF 655 million
{2016. CHF 473 million). In addition, the Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities
in respect of unremitted earnings that are considered indefinitely reinvested in foreign
subsidiaries. At 31 December 2017, these earnings amount to CHF 25.7 billion
{2016: CHF 22.4 billion). They could be subject to withholding and other taxes on remittance.
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14. Associates and joint ventures

Associates are companies where the Group has the power to exercise a significant
influence but does not exercise control. Significant influence may be cbtained when
the Group has 20% or more of the voting rights in the investee or has obtained a seat
on the Board of Directors or otherwise participates in the policy-making process of the

investee.

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements over which the Group exercises joint

control with partners and wherg the parties ha
arrangement. '
Associates and joint ventures are accounted

ve rights to the net assets of the

for using the equity method. The interest

in the associate or joint venture also includes long-term loans which are in substance
extensions of the Group's investment in the associate or joint venture. The net agsets
and results are adjusted to comply with the Group's accounting pelicies. The carrying

amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition

of associates and joint ventures is

included in the carrying amount of investments in associates and joint ventures,

In milkons of CHF

2017 2016
Other Joint Other Joint
L'Oréal associates ventures Total L'Oréal associates ventures Total
At 1 January 7453 1183 2073 10 709 7275 955 445 8 675
Curency retranslstions &2 = 4 1% _sor w20 02 B2
Divestments_ o A B B 7 B 74 T T
Share of resu S .828 LK) 820
IMPAITMERt e e e - e (B0}
Share of other comprehensive income  (298) o nesy ) 195) {164)
Dividends and interest received . 90 EB2) _ 44d) _an (519
Other - {11} {76} o {39}
At 31 Dacembar 8 184 1198 2 246 11628 7 453 1183 2073 10 709
Investments in joint ventures mainly relate to Froneri {see Note 14.3).
As part of the investment, loans granted by the Group to joint ventures amount
to CHF 18471 million at 31 December 2017 {2016: CHF 1695 million}.
Income from associates and joint ventures
In millions of CHF
2017
Dare Of eSS e e e e o e o . . L -
Impairment ] ] U, S
Profit on disposal of other associates {4} -
824 770
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14. Associates and joint ventures

14.1 U'Oréal

The Group holds 129 881 021 shares in L'Oréal {(which ultimate parent company is domiciled

in France), the world leader in cosmetics, representing a 23.2% participation in its equity
after elimination of its treasury shares (2016: 129 881 021 shares representing a 23.2%

participation).

At 31 December 2017, the market value of the shares held amounts to CHF 28.0 billion

(2016: CHF 24.2 billion}.

Summarised financial information of L'Oréal

In billions of CHF

2017 2018
Total currentassets s e — e 12.9 ... 108
Total non-current assets 28.4 275
Total assets 41.3 38.3
Totalcurrentlisbiities e ey 88
Total non-current liabilities 1.6 2.1
Total liabilitias 12.3 12.0
Total equity 29.0 26.3
Total sales 28.0 28.2
Profit from continuing operations o - 43 34
Profit from discontinued operations o i m L
Other comprehensive income (1.3} 0.3)
Total comprehensive income 2.7 3.1
Reconciliation of the carrying amount
In billions of CHF

2017 2018
Share held by the Group in the equity of L 'Oréal R 87 81
Goodwill and other adjustments 1.6 14
Carrying amount of L'Oréal 8.2 75
14.2 Other associates
The Graup holds a number of other associates that are individually not material.
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14. Associates and joint ventures

14.3 Joint ventures
The Group holds a number of joint ventures operating in the food and beverage activities.
These joint ventures are individually not material to the Group, the main ones being Froneri
(as from end of September 2018) and Cereal Partners Worldwide,

At the end of September 2018, the Group launched a joint venture with Britain's R&R
Ice Cream called Froneri. Nestlé and R&R contributed their ice cream businesses across
Europe, the Middle East (excluding Israel), Argentina, Australia, Brazil, the Philippines and
South Africa to form the new company. Nestlé also contributed part of its European frozen
food business, as well as its chilled dairy business in the Philippines (see Note 2.1).

A list of the principal joint ventures and associates is provided in the section Companies
of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates.

15. Earnings per share

2017
Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 20 7 S
Net profit (in millions of CHF) T o e o 7Bz 531
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (m mlHanS of umts) L Co30v2 3091
Diluted earnings per share {in CHF} L o282 278
Net profit, net of effects. of dilutive poténtaat ordma‘rymsl';akr;e;(mrrr;ilho‘ns of CH By 7wz 8531
Weighted average number of shares cutstanding, net of effects of dilutive pmennal ordmary shares
linmillions of units} ... e . e Lo B088 3097

1ted average number of shares outstanding {in millie ) o

Weighted average number of shares cutstanding used 1o calculate basic earmngs per share o - 3zow
Adjustment for share-based payment schemes, where dilutive IS Ce B

3098
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16. Cash flow statement

16.1 Operating profit

In miliions of CHF

207

2016

7538

T - .

Financial expense 771

29y

... 8883

770)

L AAE

(21)

758

10112

13 163

16.2 Non-cash items of income and expense
In millions of CHF
2017

2853
366
3033
a4
132
29

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Net result on disposal of assets

Non-cash items in financial assets and liabilities e @eo)

Equity compensationplans e e e 1486
Other 20

6 731

16.3 Decrease/(increase) in working capital

2017

Tra
Prepay a

(55)

Tradeand atherpayables | e e o o e R
Accruals and deferred income 181

®38)

ot

{243}
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16. Casgh flow statement

16.4 Variation of other operating assets and liabilities

in millions of CHF

2017 2016
Variation of employee benefits assets and liabilities R . 7y {167}
ation of provisions .o 44 8
220 181
383 54
16.5 Net cash flows from treasury activities
In millions of CHF
2017 2016
Interest and dividends received e o e G5
Net cash flows fram derivatives used to hedge foreign operations . 22 E— ]
Net cash: flows from trading derivatives (8) {4)
{423} {327}
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18. Cash flow statement

16.6 Reconciliation of free cash flow and net financial debt

in millions of CHF

2017

2016

Operating cash flow
Capital expenditure

12 486

3934

15582

@01

E?ﬁ?ﬁﬂéi,tﬁs,?}?jmﬁf}yi@é1555% . R EAE _k_:_f_f.“_/_ﬁ_‘_i_‘w_#_.___._____(_6?_?)_
Investments (net of divestments) in associates and joint ventures ) (ta0y  1748)
Other investing activities (134) (34}
Frea cash flow 8 509 10 108

(696) _15885)

Acguisition of businesses

Financial liabilities and short-term investments acquired in business combinations

Disposal of businesses

Financial liabilities and short-term investrnents transferred on disposal of businesses

Acquisition {net of disposal) of non-contrelting interests .~~~

Dividend paid to shareholders of the parent

Dividends paid to non-contrelling interests e e e
Purchase {net of sale) of treasury shares B e
Reclassification of financial investments from nen-current financial assets to net financial debt

sury investmentis

19

e m

(5261

(7 1286) M T

Ry

P20 780

16

281

(644)

13

Other movemenis

{Increass)/decrease of net financial debt {3 962)

Net financial debt at beginning of year {13 913} {15 425}
Net financial debt at end of year {17 875} {13 913}

of which

_... Current tinancial debt

Non-current financial debt

(10 526)

(15 932)

H2118)

Cash and cash equivalents o 7938
... Short-term investments e . ) . . 655
16.7 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and other short-term highly
liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the initial recognition.

In millions of CHF
2017
Cash at bank and in hand ; I 2202
mm- v wene g y mhn e Ae e e cam AC AN AW A AT o s, — - 1 330
Commerciai paper 4406
7 938
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17. Equity

17.1 Share capital issued

The ordinary share capital of Nestlé S.A. authorised, issued and fully paid is composed
of 3 112 160 000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF .10 each

(20186: 3 112 160 000 registered shares). Each share confers the right to one vote.

No sharehelder may be registered with the right to vote for shares which it holds, directly
or indirectly, in excess of 5% of the share capital. Shareholders have the right to receive
dividends.

In 2016, the share capital changed as a consequence of the Share Buy-Back Programme
launched in 2014, The cancellation of shares was approved at the Annual General Meeting
of 7 April 2016. The share capital was reduced by 76 240 000 shares from CHF 319 million
to CHF 311 million.

On 27 June 2017, the Group anncunced that the Board of Directors approved a share
buy-back programme of up to CHF 20 billion to be completed by the end of June 2020.

It is subject to market conditions and strategic opportunities.

17.2 Conditional share capital

The conditional capital of Nestlé S.A. amounts to CHF 10 million as in the preceding year.
It confers the right to increase the ordinary share capital, through the exercise of conversion
or option rights in connection with debentures and other financial market instruments,
by the issue of a maximum of 100 000 000 registered shares with a nominal value

of CHF 0.10 each. Thus the Board of Directors has at its disposal a flexible instrument
enabling it, if necessary, to finance the activities of the Company through convertible
debentures,

17.3 Treasury shares

Number of shares in millions of units

2017 2016
Purpose of holding S o e
Trading o R o 42 A3
Long-Term Incentive Plans 8.8 9.9
54.6 14.2

At 31 December 2017, the treasury shares held by the Group represent 1.8% of the
share capital (2018: 0.5%). Their market value amounts to CHF 4576 million
{2016: CHF 1033 million).
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17. Equity

17.4 Number of shares outstanding

Numbeat of shares in millions of units

Shares Treasury Outstanding
issued shares shares

At 1 January 2017 3112.2 {14.2) 3 098.0
Purchase of treasury Shares e e e et e e e D i, AT500 (43.6)
Treasury shares delivered in respect of options exercised | T e e 292 0.9
Treasury shares delivered in respect of equity compensation plans e 2.3 2.3
At 31 December 2017 3112.2 (54.6) 3 057.6
At 1 January 2016 31884 {103.9) 3 084.5
Purchase of treasury shares e e . a0
Sale of treasury shares ; — S 13.8
Treasury shares delivered in respect of options excrcised e 0.8
Treasury shares deliverad in resggﬁqgg_f_gguﬂity compensation plans o 2.9
Treasury shares cancelled -
At 31 December 2016 3112.2 {14.2) 3 098.0
17.5 Translation reserve and other reserves
Thae translation reserve and the other reserves represent the cumulative amount attributable
to shareholders of the parent of items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income
statement.

The translation reserve comgprises the cumulative gains and losses arising from
translating the financial statements of foreign operations that use functional currencies
other than Swiss Francs. It also includes the changes in the fair value of hedging
instruments used for net investments in foreigh operations.

The other reserves comprise the fair value reserve and the hedging reserve of the
subsidiaries. The fair value reserve includes the gains and losses on remeasuring
available-for-sale financial instruments and the hedging reserve consists of the effective
portion of the gains and losses on hedging instruments related to hedged transactions
that have not yet occurred.

The other reserves also comprise our share in the items that may be reclassified
subsequently to the income statement by the associates and joint ventures (reserves
equity accounted for).
17.6 Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative profits as well as remeasurement of defined
benefit plans attributable to shareholders of the parent.
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17. Equity

17.7 Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests comprise the portion of equity of subsidiaries that are not
owned, directly or indirectly, by Nestlé S.A. These non-controlling interests are individually

not material for the Group.

17.8 Other comprehensive income

In millions of CHF

Translation
reserve

Fair value
reserves
Hedging
reserves
Reserves

of associates and
joint ventures
Retained
garnings

Total equity
attributable to
shareholders
of the parent
Non-controlling
Interests

Total

equity

Currency retranslations

- Becegnised

- Reclassitied to income statement

© (650)

- Taxes ] = —- 92
- C(s40) (18} (558}

Fair value adjustments on available-for-sale financial
instruments

135
(138)
(9}

i
. 38)
@

zRecognised

- Reclassifie

- Taxes

aey o

228 @ (230)
L.1ee 3 188
6 - 6

Remeasurement of defined bene

- Becognised

- Taxes

IS
1524

= 1513
- {454)

(450}

1524
{454} 4

- Ae0 o oa@e 1063

Share of other comprehensive income of assogiates

and joint ventures . " . e I

-Recognised o _i240y 52 {18B) (188)

- Reclassified to income stamtémmen; _ - . — o — — -
e e e e = 2ahy B (188) - {188}

Other comprehensive income for the year

{634) {18} (54) {145) 279 127} 252
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17. Equity

In millions of CHF

of associates and

joint ventures
Non-controlling

Fair value
Teserves
reserves
Reserves
Retained
earnings
Total equity
attributable to
shareholders
of the parent
interests

Translation
Hedging

Currency retransiations

~3
oy
M

- Reclassified to income statement .
-~ Taxes

Fair value adjustments on available-for-sale financial
instruments

0 1 m
@4 - - {94}
M ()
s 1 16

- Reclassified to income statement

- Taxes

Fair value adjustments on cash flow hedges

61
148}
14)
1)

-~ Recognised

- Reclassi

o sy . @s1
- — 308 308
4:1) (144} L 1? ) (143}

Share of other comprehensive income of associates

and joint ventures

064

(10 fpeq - (189

7 Recognised {164)

- Reclassified to income statement - - .
- - S .- B

Other comprehensive income for the year 1052 15 (2} (167} {154) 750 )] 741
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17. Eguity

17.9 Reconciliation of the other reserves

In miflions of CHF

o
c
© v
g
=
) 23 88 %
gz =3 €97 =
= 2 22 oo € E}
i £e £%5 8 e
At 1 January 2017 46 (15} 1167 1198
Gther comprehensive income for the year {10} (54) 1145) {(209)
At 31 Dacembar 2017 36 (69} 1022 989
At 1 January 2016 31 {13} 1327 1345
Other comprehensive income for the year w o s {148)
Other movements — - 1 1
At 31 December 2016 46 {15) 1167 1198

17.10 Dividend

In accordance with Swiss law and the Company's Articles of Association, dividend
is treated as an appropriation of profit in the year in which it is ratified at the Annual
General Meeting and subsequently paid. o

The dividend related to 2016 was paid on 12 April 2017 in accordance with the decision
taken at the Annual Ganeral Meeting on 6 April 2017. Shareholders approved the proposed
dividend of CHF 2.30 per share, resulting in a total dividend of CHF 7126 million.

Dividend payable is not accounted for until it has been ratified at the Annual General
Meeting. At the meeting on 12 April 2018, a dividend of CHF 2.35 per share will be proposed,
resulting in an estimated total dividend of CHF 7216 million. For further details, refer to
the Financial Statements of Nestlé S.A.

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 do not reflect this
proposed distribution, which will be treated as an appropriation of profit in the year
ending 31 December 2018.
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18. Lease commitments

Leasing agreements which’ transfer to the Group substantlally all the rewards and risks
of cwnershup of an asset aré treated as flnance ieases Al other leases are classn‘led as
operating leases: -

Assets acquired under f:nance leases afe cap|tahsed and depremated in accordance
with the Group's policy on property, piant and equipmaent unless the lease term is shorter.
The assaciated finance lease obhganons are inclyded under fmancnaé debt and the flnance
charge is presented as part of net firancing. cost of et debt. 4 3

Hentals under cperatmg Eeases are charged to the mcome statemem cm a Straaght-hne
basm ovér the period of the lease,, . Do

18.1 Operating leases

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
Minimum lease payments {Future valueg)
Within one year o o 73378
In the second year o 608 596
In the third to the fifth year o o S ‘i 180 186
After the fifth year 1014 831
3533 3 239
Lease commitments relate mainly to buildings and vehicles. The operating lease charge
for the year 2017 amounts to CHF 808 million {2016: CHF 788 miliion).
18.2 Finance leases
In millions of CHF
2017 2016
Minimum lease payments Present value Future value Present valug Future value
Within one year - o o ) 7 a4 48 4z 45
n lhe tiﬂrd %0 the fifth year o . ) 66 B8 I3
After the fifth year 33 51 39 56
181 188 181 220
The difference between the future value of the minimum lease payments and their
present value represents the discount on the lease obligations.
139
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19. Transactions with related parties

19.1 Compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board
Board of Directors
Members of the Board of Directors receive an annual compensation that varies with the
Board and the Committee responsibilities as follows:
~ Board members: CHF 280 000;
— members of the Chairman’s and Corporate Governance Committee: additional
CHF 200 000 (Chair CHF 300 000}
— members of the Compensation Committee: additional CHF 70 000 (Chair CHF 150 00Q};
— members of the Nomination and Sustainability Committee: additional CHF 40 000
(Chair CHF 100 000); and
— members of the Audit Committee: additional CHF 100 000 {Chair CHF 150 000},
The Chairman and the CEQ Committee fees are included in their total compensation.
Half of the compensation is paid through the granting of Nestlé S.A. shares at the
ex-dividend closing price. These shares are subject to a three-year blocking period.
With the exception of the Chairman and the CEO, members of the Board of Directors
also receive an annual expense allowance of CHF 156 000 each. This allowance covers
travel and hotel accommodation in Switzerland, as well as sundry out-of-pocket expenses.
For Board members from outside Europe, the Company reimburses additionally their
airline tickets. When the Board meets outside of Switzerland, all expenses are borne and
paid directly by the Company.
The Chairman is entitled to a cash compensation, as well as Nestlé S.A. shares which
are blocked for three years.

In milkans of CHF

Chairman’s compensation o e .

OtherBoard members i e

. Remuneration-cash e . . e e e
Shares 2 2
Total 10 11

fof Directors that ars regured by Swiss law, refer 1o
niighiod with o bluc oos

{5} Forthed

sclosares regarding the remunmations of the So
they Corn 5

fon roporl of Nestls A with the audiied socions ¢+

140 Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017



18, Transactions with related parties

Executive Board

The total annual remuneration of the members of the Executive Board comprises a salary,
a bonus {based on the individual's performance and the achievement of the Group’s
objectives), equity compensation and other benefits. Members of the Executive Board can
choose to receive part or all of their bonus in Nestlé 5.A. shares at the average closing
price of the last ten trading days of January of the year of the payment of the bonus. The
CEO has o take a minimum of 50% in shares. These shares are subject to a three-year
blocking period.

In millions of CHF

2017 2018
Remuneration - cash i o 15
Bonus-cash .. e e S 8
Bonus -~shares . 5
Equity compensation plans ) i I L 4
Pension 3 51
Total B} 45 51

(3} Eauty compsnzation plars afe eotity-setted share-based payment transactions whose cosi is recognised sver the vesiing
paod a8 requirey by IFRE 2,
b} Ferthe deimled disciosures regarding ths remunerations of the Exe
Compensation repart of Nestle S.A. with the audited secuons nig

law, refer 1o the

ive Board that are required by Swiss
1od with g blue bar

19.2 Transactions with associates and joint ventures

The main transactions with associates and joint ventures are:

royalties received on brand licensing;

dividends and interest received as well as loans granted (see Note 14};
research and development commitments (see Note 9);

in-licensing and intellectual property purchase (see Note 9).

i

19.3 Other transactions
Nestlé Capital Advisers S.A. (NCA), one of the Group’'s subsidiaries, is an unregulated
investment and actuarial adviser, based in Switzerland. Further to actuarial advice, NCA
renders investment consulting services to some of the Group's pension funds, either directly
or indirectly via the Robusta mutual fund umbrella, but NCA never executes trading and
investment transactions. The fees received by NCA in 2017 for those activities amounted
to CHF 9 million (2016: CHF 10 million}.

Nesté Capital Management Ltd {NCM) is a 100% subsidiary of NCA. Until
30 November 2017, NCM was an asset manager authorised and regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authority, in the United Kingdom. NCM ceased its activities during 2017 and will
be wound-up in 2018. NCM managed some of the assets of the Group’s pension funds.
In this function, NCM executed trading and investment transactions on behalf of these
pension funds directly or for the Robusta mutual funds pension investment vehicles.
The fees received by NCM in 2017 for those activities amounted to CHF 6 million
{2016: CHF 19 million}). The assets under direct management represented CHF 10.4 billion
at 31 December 2016.
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19. Transactions with related parties

In addition, Robusta Asset Management Ltd {RAML), a 100% subsidiary of NCA, is

in charge of selecting and monitoring investment managers for the Robusta mutual funds
pension investment vehicles. RAML has delegated most of its activities to third parties,
including NCA and hence no fee income is generated by RAML. Any remaining expenses
are covered by means of fees deducted from its assets under management. The assets
under supervision of RAML amounted to CHF 7.9 billion at 31 December 2017

(2016: CHF 9.5 billion; of this amount CHF 8.5 billion of assets were under direct
management of NCM at 31 December 2016).

For information regarding the Group's pension plans, which are considered as related
parties, please refer to Note 10 Employee benefits.

Furthermore, throughout 2017, no director of the Group had a perscnal interest in any
transaction of significance for the business of the Group.

20. Guarantees

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group has no significant guarantees
given to third parties.

21. Events after the balance sheet date

The values of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are adjusted if there is_
evidence that subsequent adjusting events warrant a modification of these values.
These adjustments are made up 1o the date of approval of the Consolidated Financial
Statements by the Board of Directors. ’

At 14 February 2018, the date of approval for issue of the Consolidated Financial Statements
by the Board of Directors, the Group has no subsequent events which warrant a modification
of the value of its assets and liabilities. There are no subsequent events which require any
additional disciosure except the estimated gain on the disposal of the US confectionery
business mentioned in Note 2.4 Assets held for sale.
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KPMG
Statutory Auditors Report

To the General Meeting of Nestié S.A., Cham & Vevey
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S.A. and its subsidiaries (the Group}, which
comptrise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, the consclidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated staternent of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consclidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consclidated financial statements (pages 64 to 142) give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial
performance and its conselidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {(IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss
audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key Audit Matters.

o=
Revenue recognition

Q Carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

i

I Income taxes

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial staternents of the current period. These matters were addressed

in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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@ Revenue recognition

Key Audit Matter

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at
the moment when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,;
and is measured net of pricing allowances, other
trade discounts, and price promaotions to customers
(collectively ‘trade spend’).

The judgements required by management to
estimate trade spend accruals are complex due to
the diverse range of contractual agreements and
commercial terms across the Group's markets.

There is a risk that revenue may be overstated
because of fraud, resulting from the pressure local
management may feel to achieve performance
targets. Revenue is also an important element of
how the Group measures its performance, upon
which management are incentivised.

The Group focuses on revenue as a key

performance measure, which could create an
incentive for revenue to be recognised before
the risks and rewards have been transferred.

Our response

We considered the appropriateness of the Group’s
revenue recognition accounting policies, including the
recognition and classification criteria for frade spend.

Due to the high reliance of revenue recognition on IT,
we evaluated the integrity of the general IT control
environment and tested the operating effectiveness
of key IT application controls. We performed detailed
testing over the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying customer master data, by assessing
mandatory fields and critical segregation of duties.

Additicnally we identified transactions that deviated
from the standard process for further investigation
and validated the existence and accuracy of this
population. We also tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the calculation and
monitoring of trade spend.

Furthermore, we performed a monthly trend analysis
of revenue by market by considering both internal
and external benchmarks, overlaying our
understanding of each market, to compare the
reported resuits with our expectation.

We also considered the accuracy of the Group's
description of the accounting policy related to revenue,
and whether revenue is adequately disclosed
throughout the consolidated financial statements.

For further information cn revenue recognition refer to the following:

— Note 1, “Accounting policies”
— Note 3, “Analyses by segment”

Q”l Carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Key Audit Matter

The Group has goodwill of CHF 29,748 million and
indefinite life intangible assets of CHF 16,188 miillion
as at 31 December 2017 which are required to be
tasted for impairment at least on an annual basis.
The recoverability of these assets is dependent on
achieving sufficient level of future net cash flows.

Management apply judgement in allocating these
assets to individual cash generating units (CGUs’)
as well as in assessing the future performance
and prospects of each CGU and determining the
appropriate discount rates,
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QOur response

We evaluated the accuracy of impairment tests
applied to significant amounts of goodwill and
indefinite life intangible assets, the appropriateness
of the assumptions used, and the methodology used
by management to prepare its cash flow forecasts.

For a sample of CGUs, identified based on
quantitative and qualitative factors and including
among others the Nestlé Skin Heaith CGU, we
assessed the historical accuracy of the plans and
forecasts by comparing the forecasts used in the
prior year model to the actual performance in the
current year. We compared these against the latest
plans and forecasts approved by management.
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in 2017 an impaimment loss of CHF 2,799 million was
recognised in respect of Nestlé Skin Health,
following a strategy review that triggered substantial
changes to the CGU's portfelio and focus.

We then challenged the robustness of the key
assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amount, including identification of the CGU, forecast
cash fiows, long term growth rates and the discount
rate based on our understanding of the commercial
prospects of the related assels. In addition, we
identified and analysed changes in assumptions from
prior periods, made an assessment of the
appropriateness of assumptions, and performed

a comparison of assumptions with publicly available
data.

We also considered the appropriateness of
disclosures in relation to impairment sensitivities
and disclosures in relation to the impairment
recognised in respect of Nestlé Skin Health.

For further information on the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets refer to the following:

— Note 1, "Accounting policies”
— Note 9, "Goodwill and intangible asseis”

i
I Income taxes

Key Audit Matter

The Group cperates across multiple tax jurisdictions
around the world, and is thus regularly subject to tax
challenges and audits by local tax authorities on
various matters including intragroup financing,
pricing and royalty arrangements, different business
models and other transaction-related matters.

Where the amount of tax liabilities or assets is
uncertain, the Group recognises provisions that
reflect management’s best estimate of the most
likely outcome based on the facts known in the
relevant jurisdiction,

Qur response

We evaluated management'’s judgment of tax risks,
estimates of tax exposures and contingencies by
involving our local country tax specialists. Third party
opinions, past and current experience with the tax
authorities in the respective jurisdiction and our tax
specialists' own expertise were used to assess the
appropriateness of management’s best estimate of
the most likely outcome of each uncertain tax
position.

Qur audit approach included additional reviews
performed at Group level to consider the Group’s
uncertain tax positions viewed from a worldwide
perspective - in particular for transfer prices,
intragroup financing and payments in relaticn to
centralised business models where multiple
jurisdictions and tax authorities are involved. We
drew on our own tax expertise and knowledge
gained with other similar groups to conclude on
management's best estimate of the ouicome on the
Group's worldwide uncertain tax positions as they
relate to more than one jurisdiction,

For further information on income taxes refer to the foliowing:

— Note 1, "Accounting policies”
~ Note 11, “Provisions and contingencies”
- Note 13, “Taxes"
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information
comprises ail information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements,
the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the compensation report and our auditor’s reports thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements dees not cover the other information in the annual report
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materiafly misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsibie for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consclidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial staterments as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 2 guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will aiways detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Ve also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstaternent resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that .
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncerainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
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related disclosures in the consolidated financiat staterments or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Ohbtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consoiidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matlters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear en our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consoclidated financial statements of the current pericd
and are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report, unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in aur report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reascnably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

in accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial
staterents according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consoclidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Scott Cormack Lukas;i?—‘d\—/7
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 14 February 2018

KPMG SA, 111 Rue de Lyon, P.O, Box 347, CH-1211 Geneva 13

KPMG SA is a subsidiary of KPMG Helding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of Independent firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative {'KPMG intemational’), a
Swiss legal entity, Al ights reserved,
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Financial information — 5 year review

In millions of CHF {except for data per share and employees)

2017

Results
Sales

Underlymg Trading operatmg proft*

as % of sales o
Tradmg operatmg profat * .
as %o of sales

Proflt for‘the year attrll_:)u_?able to shareho[ders of the parem {Net proﬁﬂ

as % of sales

De receation oi property, plant and equ

791
79

16.4%
13233
a7
2779

7183

8.0%
7216
. 2853

Non-current assets
Total assets
Current I|ab|I|t|es

Eqmty attrlbutable to shareholders of the parem e
Non- controlfmg interests

32190
98 190

130 380

36084

3t 549

61504

1273

32042
 sesss
. Ml?:l‘??l“. B

28403

64590
1391

Net finangial debt . e iﬁ i 1787 - M13M913T; .
Ratio of net financial debt to equity (gearlng) i - o 29.1% s
Operating cashflow _— e ) 13486 Lesez
as % of net financial debt N o - e e o 754A% e 1381{’/?”% .
Free cash flow * e . R _ .  BH00 10108 ;
Capital expendnure e ,, o 3934 4010 -
astofsales - - I . 44% 4.9% .
Data per share o L e T
Welghted average Qan}Eer of shares outstandlng (|n m:lhons of umts) T 3002 ] o
rnings per share o i } ) B 232 27y

ying earnings per share * n 3 385 ‘
Dividend USSR 235 W
Pay-out ratio Eaased on basu_ earsings per share e 101 3%
Stock pric - e e 86.40
Stock prices flow) R 71.45

Market capitalisation

256 223

226 310

Number of employees (in thousands)

323

328

»

measares, that
wr Group,
Srorefpui

wd

o Ju un “M p;
2 no-FRE Hrancisl

s NENCE Meakes,

isd Colewl
b} As pIc

nead in the follovdng voar and on g

A sLook prices.
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Financial information — b year review

. Results
. Underlying Trading operating profit *

~ as % of sales

Trading operating profit *
_ as%ofsales
TaxesM - - . G e
. Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent (Net profit)

_ as % of sales

. Total amount of dividend

__ Depreciation of property, plant and equipment )
T Balance sheet and Cash flow statement . R
29434 33961 30066 Cumentassels e
94568 99489 90378  Non-currentassets R _

123 992 133 450 120442 Total assets

3332 3289 32917  Currentliabilities
26685 28671 23 386 Non-current liabilities
37w 82575 Equity atuributable to sharehol

1754 1564  Non-controlling interests
Net financial debt *
Ratio of net financial debt

. Operating cash flow

as % of net financial debt

g7z 39 92 Capital expenditure
Ad AR 53%  as%otfsales

Data per share

31 . Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in milliens of units)

_ Basic earnings per share

_ Underlying earnings per sh
Dividend o
t ratio basequ;ja_ basic earnings per share B

229 947 231 136 208279 Market capitalisation
335 339 333 : Number of employees (in thousands)
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Companies of the Nestlé Group,
joint arrangements and associates

In the context of the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance,

the disclosure criteria of the principal affiliated companies are as follows:

— operating companies are disclosed if their sales exceed CHF 10 million or equivalent;

- financial companigs are disclosed if either their equity exceeds CHF 10 million or equivalent and/or
the total balance sheet is higher than CHF 50 million or equivalent;

— joint ventures and associates are disclosed if the share held by the Group in their profit exceeds
CHF 10 million or equivalent and/or the Group's investment in them exceeds CHF 50 million or
equivalent

Entities directly held by Nestlé S.A. that are below the disclosure criteria are listed with a°

All companies listed below are fully consolidated except for:

% Joint ventures accounted for using the equity methed; ,

2 Joint operations acceunted for in proportion to the Nestlé contractual specified share {(usually 50%);
3 Associates accounted for using the equity method. ‘

Countries within the continents are listed according to the alphabetical order of the country names.
Percentage of capital shareholding corresponds to voting powers unless stated otherwise.

& Companies listed on the stock exchange

% Sub-holding, financial and property companies

% capital % ultimate

shareholdings capital
Companies City by Mestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital
Europe . i e

Austria

Galderma Austriz GmbH
Nespresso Osterreich Gm
Nestlé Osterreich GmbH

Azerbaijan - I

Nestle Azerbaijan LLC . Baku . & s i 100%  USD .

Belarus o ;_ B A T T

LLC Nestlé Bol e e Munsk L .. A10000
Belgium o

Cenure de Coordination Nestlé S.A. - ¥ Bruxelles EUR 42889718318
Nespresso Belgique S.A.  Brslies e __EUR 550000
Nestlé Belgilux S.A. ... .. bBruxelles JEUR 64924438

Nestlé Catering Services NV, Braxeles EUR 14 035 500
Mestls Waters Benelux S.A. T _ Ewle . __ EUR
Bosnia and Herzegovina - ) i

Nestlé Adriatic BH d.oo, e Barajevo o 30G% 0 T00%  BAM 2157
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

% ultimate
capital
shareholdings

% capital
shareholdings

by Nestlé S.A, Currency

Capital

Bulgaria

Nestlé Bulgaria AD. Sofia . S LL100% L 100% BGN 10234933
Nestlé Adriaticd.o0. .. . — Zagreb e 100% LJ00%  HRK 14885500
Czech Repub(;c T ) T ; e T i B o T
Nestle Cesko s. '“Om e e e e SRR 1 L100% G4k 306000900
Tivall CZ, s.r0. A e e e e e VOO% CZK 400 000 000

Cereal Parmers Cmch Republuc 5.1, o

50% 23100 000

Denmark ] - - -
Nestlé Danmark A/S o ) ~ Copenhagen o 100% _1006% DKK 44 000 000

Nestlé Professmnal F-ood NS

_ Raennede

100% 12 000 000

Gy ATS T T penhagen T agh asre DGR 1383655

Finland

Pulionki Oy ]
Suomen Nestle Oy

France ) B ) B ; T - T S T
Centres de Recherche et Développement Nestlé SAS.  Nosied 31381230
e, SOMTRSNOIE e 940 020

Nestte Purlha PetCare Francers A S R
Nestlé Waters SAS, e

Sccteté Immobaisem de Néu};}é; 5. A

Société Industneile de Trans formatmn o o
..de Produits Agricoles SAS, . o

Consclidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017

_ Nanterre
N ‘Nms:el o

? Issy-les-Moulineaux

Noisiel

30322851
12908610

00%

100%

1360000
) o ?'3_% 559 392
1 00% = e e mmrme b eemr s eee e

Issy ieszVIoulmeaux

_ lssy-les-Moulineaux _ w_of(r_ ’
_ Issy-les-Moufineaux 100%
__ lssy-les-Mo ) ﬁ ___100%  EUR 1356796
o ©100%  EUR 17539660
JJoo%  EUR 7308106

22753550

oow ..8718000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings

Currency

Capital

France (continued)

Cereal Partners France SNC N Noisiel ' 50%

EUR

3 000 000

L'Oréal 5.A, @ 2% Paris 23.2% 23.2%

EUR

112103 818

Listed on the Faris stock exchange, market capitalisation £l Ug:{ U3.7 bilion, quotation code (ISIN) FRODODIZ032T

Lactatis Nestlé Produits Frais SAS. | ¥ Laval 40% 40%

Georgia

69 208 832

Nestlé Georgia LLC  Teibsi

700 000

Germany

Bubchen-Werk Ewald Hermes Pharmazeutische o
_ Fabrik GmbH e e SoEST e e L L 100%  BURS 25565

Galderma Laboratorium GmbH_ _ Diisseldort

Nastlé

Nestlé Product Technology Centre

. Lebensmittalforschung GmbH Freiburg i. Br. 100%

Nestle Unternehmungen Deutschland GmbH lain L 1e0%
Nestls Waters Deutschtand GmbH_—~ ~ ~ ~ Frankfurt am Main _100%

Frankfurt am M

Terra Canis GmbH . Miinchen L BO%

EUR
. EVUR

EUR

EUR

10566000

C.P.D. Cerenl Partners Deutschiand GrmbH & Go. DHG 1 Frankfurt am Main T T ey TR 11202
Trinks GmbH ¥ Braunschweig __25%  EUR 2 360 000
Trinks Siid GmbH , ¥ Miinchen ' : . a5% EUR 260 000

Greece

Nespressa Hellas S.A.

Maroussi

I Maroussi

500000
5 269 765

201 Q70

Nestlé Hungaria Kft. Budapest o 100% 100%

& 000 000 000

22 000 000

Cereal Partners Hungdria Kft. - U Budapest - ‘ 50%

italy

Fastlog S.p A, j: Assago L M00% EUR 154 985
Galdermeltalia Sp.A. o MianG e 100% EUR . 812000
Nespresso faliana SpA. - Assego . oo devs  EUR 280000

Nestlé Italiana S.pA L
Sanpellegrino S.p.A. -

i;;a“ki:lstan

Assago i.!.f.r,,,.f..l.Q??.?Z’f& o NOO%
. BenPellegrino Yerme ~ ~  100%

58742 145

Nestlé Food Kezakhstan LLP —~ ~ Amaty  100%  100%

o Woung nowers amouit 10 23.2%

... 91900
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
sharehcldings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareheldings Currency Capital

L'ithuanié

UAB Nestlé Balfics” imws  100% 100% _ EUR 31856
Luxembaurg S

Compagnie Financiere du HautBhin S.A. 0 Luxembourg oo 100%  EUR 105 260 000

Nespresso Luxembourg Sarl T Luxembourg ~ 100%  100%  EUR 12526

100% _100%  EUR 440000
100% 100%  EUR 1000000
100%  100%  EUR 3565000

Nestlé Finance International Ltd - Luxe

Nestl§ Treasury International S.A.
NTC-Europe S.A. .

Macedonia

- __ Skopie-Kerpos 100%  _ 100%  MKD 31 085 780C
Malta _

Nestlé Malta Ltd _ Lija_ 99.9%  100%  EUR 116 470

Kdmbldnva
LLE Nestle - . Cisinau 100%  100%  USD 1 000

&i&i\eriands
East Sprin,
Galderma

2 Amsterdam 100% _ EUR . ..25370000

EUR 18 002
EUR .. BBRET0

_ Rotterdam

Nespresso Nederland B.V. _ Amsterdam

Nestlé Nederland B.V. _ L _ Amsterdam  100% . EUR 11346000
Tivall Netherlands BV. Czeist ) 18000
l}f’S Nestlé Norg?_ e . Iflgjs:ake[ R o 100_":{?_ NOK ____________8‘I 250 GOCL

Galderma Palska Z o.0.

Warszawa e JO0% O PLN 33000
Warszawa  100% 100% PLN 42 800 000
Polska . Warszawa LA00%  PLN 196100 000

Cereal Partners Poland Torun-Pacific Sp. Ze.o. . % Torun ~ 50%  50%  PLN 14 572 838

Portugal
Nestlé Business Services Lisban, S.A. " Deiras Lo..odoos%k o 300% BUR O B0 00O
Nestlé Portugai S.A. —— . Deiras _100%  EUR 30000000
Prolacto-Lacticinios de Sdo Miguel SA.  PontaDelgada __EUR 700000
Cereal Associados Portugal AELE. L It QOeiras

Republic of Irefand
Nestié (reland}led
freland Ltd

Dublia
- jﬂ:sjﬁeaton
Dublin

WyNutriled
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and assogciates

Companies

% capital
shareholdings

City by Nestlé S.A.

shareholdings

% ultimate
capital
Currency

Capital

Republlc of Serbia

[\_Je_a_i_tle driatic $ d.o.0., Be

_ Beograd-Surcin

12222327 814

R, " R ,_ B e e S,
Nestlé Romania SR.L. . Bucharest 100% 100%  BON 132906 800
Russia o A _ o ) ) “ o

Nestlé Kuban LLC .. oo Jimashevsk __.874% 100%  RUB 21041793

Nestlé Rossiya LLC ~ . ~ Moscow _ B43%  100%  RUB 880154 115

oo GaldermalLC _ Moscow - 100% RUB 25 000 000

Cereal Partners Rusv LLC ‘ _ ¥ Moseow 35% 50% RUB 38 730 861

S e R e e e e
Nestlé Slovenskosro. . .. Previdza 100% 100% EUR 13 277 568
S e R e e
Nestlé Adriatic Trgovina d.o.0.  bublisna oot 100% EUR .. 8res
o ) - :_#_ e e T
Laboratorios Galderma, S.A. 0 Madid M0% EUR 432480
Nestlé Espana 8.A. }:splugues de Liobregat

e ., \BarcBlONa) . ool EUR 100000 000

Nestle Global Semces Spam S.L.

N;wstlﬂéuiv’: mna PetCare Espa fia S /
Ergglg.;g os del Café S.A.
Cereai Partnsrs Espana A. E. 1 E

Esplugues de L!obregat

_ \Barcelona}

Espiugues de Liobregat
. (Barcelona)

12000000

6 600 000

120 202

Sweden L

Galderma Nordic AB e Yppsala 100% _ SEK 31502 698
Nestlé Sverige AB .. e, . Helsingborg e H09% SEK 20 000 000
Q-Med AB B o 100%  SEK 24845 600
Tiall SwedenAB e e .. SEK

Swﬂzerland

DPA (Holdingt S.A. L
Entreprises MaggiS.A.

Galderma S.A,
Galderma Pharma S A
Galderma Schwelz AG
lntercona ‘B'Q‘AG -
Materna l\!e tle GmbH
Nespresso ES Servaces S A

156

Cham

L

Ve

Lausanne

t_gefkmgen

Lausanne e et s

100%

0% G
100%

..100 000
100 000

100 UOO
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé 5.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Swnzerland (contmued)
Nestec S.A, Vevey 100% 160% CHF 5 009 000

Nestls Capital Advisers SA.  __ Newy _____100% ___ 100%  CHE 400000
Nestlé Finance S.A.  Cham o _100% _ CAF 30000000

C100%  100%  CHE 100000

100%  CHF 100 000

3514000

2000 000

100,000

Nestlé Inshtute of ngalthﬂnsyp_;‘cvances S.A

Nestl¢ international Travel Retall S.A,

Nestlé Nespresso S.

_ Hermez
Nestrade S A B o o - ~ La Tour-de-Peilz

Nutrition-Weliness Venture AG e ¢ Vevey
Provestor AG ¢* Cham

ServcomSA. T le Tour-de Pellz
Société des Produits NestésA . Vevey
Sofinol S.A,
Somafa S.A.
Spirig Pharma AG
T oactiv
Vetropa S.A.
Beverag& Partnsrs Warldwude (Eumpe) AG.
CPW Operatmns Sarl

CPW S.A. . ‘. .
Microbiorme Diagnostics Partners S.A, “1 Epalihges
Eckes-Granini (Suisse] S.A. 2 Henniez

34750000
3000 000
400 000

600 000

Manno

pan

2 5{)(} (}GO

1000000
20000
10000 000

100000

2 000 600

Turkey
Erikli Bagitim ve Pazarlama A.S. Bursa .LNe0%  TRY 3849975

Erikii Su ve Mesrubat Sanayi ve T!carat As. Bursa e 100% h CTRY 12 760 0 000

99.9% 999% _ TRY 35000000
100% _TRY 8
TRY

Istanbul

Istanbul

Ukraine
LLC Nestlé Ukeaine L Ky R L A00%

PJ.‘:.C ,,va Confectlonew F—ac‘cory $ o : - L I ’ __97% . A,,__ SR
PRISC Volynholding ~ Torchyn e SeEw e L

150 000
881110

United Kingdom
Galderma {UK)Ltd e Watford

_ 1500000

NespressoUKitd ~ ~ Gatwick ) 275000
Nestec York Ltd . e . Satwick e -
Nestlé Capital Managament Ltd . Gatwiek 3 2 000 000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % uftimate

shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital
United Kingdom {continued) e ] - B -
Nestle Hotdings (UK} PLC L Gatwick e BIR | T00% GBP 77940000

Nestlé Purina PetCare (UK) Ltd

_ .. Gatwick

100%

GBP

Nestlo UKLtd _ Gatwick __100%  GBP 129972342
Nestlé Waters UK Ltd e Gatwick . 100%  GBP 640
OsemUKLY .. Lendon .. MOO%  GBP 2000
ProactivSkinHeathlid  ~london 7% GBP 101
Vitatlo (International) Ltd T Gverpool - 100%  GBP 6252379
Cereal Partners UK T :‘E ‘Her‘{s o o :W?W*SO% GRP m___: T
Froneri Ltd o B Northalterton 22.2% 44.8% EUR 13 000

Phagenesis Lid

3 Manchester

29.2% 29.2%

16 146

v Expjudig non voing preference shares, Yoting powers amount 1o 50%
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

%% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Algeria
Nestlé Algérie SpA Alger e SR

Nestlé Industrie Algérie SpA | Tt Ager T agw

Nestle

.2.800 000 000
_11199 000 009

‘aters Algé

Angola
Nestlé Angolatda e e e, LUADdE e 100%T00% ADA 1443 600000

Eurkina ﬁaso

Nestlé Burkina Faso S.A. .. Ouagsdougou .. 100%  XOF 50000000
Nestlé Cameroun S.A. )  Dowala _100% ____ 100% __XAF 4323960000

Chad
Nestlé Chad 8.4,

0090 000

Cdte d'lvoire
Centre de Recherche et de Développement
_ Nestlé Abid

100%  XOF 10000000
XOF 5517 600 000G

Democratic Rept;blic of thé'Congo%
Nestlé Congo S.AR.L

Kinshass

Ethiopia - - o ) ) B -
Nestlé Waters Ethiopia Share Company o } o 223450770
aagon__,__ JR— [ — m:_ — . - .

Nestlé Gabon, S.A. . Librevifle

344 000 000

Ghana
Nestlé Central and West Africa Ltd

Nestlé Ghana Ltd _

Guinga '
Nestlé Guinge S.A.

__ Conakry 99%  89%  GNF 3424000000

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017 159



Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

% capital

shareholdings
by Nestlé S.A,

% ultimate
capital

shareholdings

Currency Capital

Kenya _

Nestlé Equatorial African Region Ltd o
NesttéKenyaltd . ..

Mali

. Nairohi
. Nairobi

- 190%
. 100%

L. 1e0%
JJoow K

~...132.000 000
....226 100 400

Nestle MaliSAL. .

Bamake

16000 000,

Nestl¢'s Products (Mauritusi bt~ Portlouis 06% 100%  BSD 71500

Morocco

MNestlé MaghrebS.A.

Casablanca

LM%

100

... 300 000

Nestlé Marae S.A. T Bsadida o 9as%  945%  MAD 156933000
Nestlé Mogambigue Lda . " Maputo e 100% LJ00% MEN 2 474 909 200
Nostlé Niger SA. A e Niemey XOF 50000 000
Nigeria o ) e

Nestlé NigeriaPle S

Listec

Senegal -

g Stock §xcf?ange, market capitalisation NGN

Nupeju

quotation cod:

396328126

Nestlé Sénegal SA.

SouthAfriea

" 1820000 000

Galderms Laboratories South Africa (Pyy) bad

Nestié (South Afrie) Py Ltd

Clover Waters Proprietary Lirnited

) ‘Jahannesbm’g

Bryanston

Johannesburg

L EAR 375000
759 735 000
56 021 890

Mestlé TunisieS.A. T Tunis _..9985%  99b%  TND 8438280
Nestlé Tunisie Distribution 8.4, Tuns L 50.1% 99.5%  TND .00 000
Nestle Zambia Trading Ltd ) Lusaka C %8s 100% ZMW L2 317509

Nestlé Zimbabwe (Private) Ltd

160

Harare

L 100%

L%

usb 2100000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

% uhimate
capital
shareholdings

% capital
shareholdings
by Nestlé S.A,

Lurrency

Amerlcas e e e s s . - - . . — - -
Argentina

EcodelosAndesSA.
Galderms Argentina S.A.
Nestlé Arger

Bolivia

Buenos Aires
Bugnos Aires
Buenos Aires

92524285
9800 000

Industrias Alimenticias Fagal S.R.L.
Nestlé Bolivia S.A.

Brazil

CSamtaCruz
_ SantaCruz

(175536 000
191300

Chocolates Garoto $.A.

Ga{derma Brasil Ltda
Nestié Brasil Lt Ltda

Nestlé Nordeste Alimentos e Bgi}ldas Ltda
Nestlé Sudeste Alimentos e Bebidas Ltda )

Nria"stle ‘gu{ VA{fmentos e Bebldas Ltda L m_
Nestlé Watars firasil - Bebidas ¢ Anmentos Ltd
Ralston Purina do Brasit Ltda -/ B
SOCOPAL — Sociedade Comercnai de Cnrretagem

de Seguros e de Pamctpagoes Ltda

_ Vila Velha

Sao Paulo N

. Ség Paule o
" Ribeirao Preto

. Sdo Paulo ) o 100%

CPW Brasil Ltda, | L B Ml!_ Cagapava-

Sio. F‘aulo
Faira de Santana

100%

100% B

50%

167 450 000

39741602
457 985 643

258 547 969

SaoPawlo . %00% _ BRL 109317818
. Carazinho e 100%  BRL 73049736

Jgradgaal
17976826

2 155 600

7 886 B20

Dalry ‘Partners Amencas Brasil L!da o

le

49%

227606368

Datry Partners Amerlcas Nordeste - Produtos

© Aliménticios Lida . . &

Sdo Paulo-

Garanhuns

49% -

100 000

Cana;;;,ﬁ e e e _ e A e e e o st e e e e

G. Production Canada nc. ) Baie O"Ufé {(Quéhec} T100% CAD 100

Gaiderma Canada Inc. T ) o Saint John ) T o

. e e e e e . [New Brunswick) e e NOO% CAD 100,
e, ) " Toronto (Ontario) _100%  CAD 47165540
Canadalid n . 100%  CAD L1010,

Cavma’; fslands T :_: o T N o i

Hsu Fu Chi International Limited M

.7 950000

Galderma Chile Laboratorios [tda  ~  SentisgodeChile L OO 12 330 000
_ 1000 000

Nespresso Chile S.A.

Cer;ales CPW Chlle Ltda - T 1

 Santiagode Chile

Santiagode Chile

~eg7w

Aguas CCU —~ Nestls Chile §.A.

Santiago de Chile -

49 799 375 321
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital
shareholdings

Companies by Nestié S.A.

% ultimate
capital
shareholdings

Currency Capital

Mexico

Galderma México, S.A de C.V. e
Mathemex, S.A. de C.V. )

Mexico, D.F,
México, D.F.

.2 385000

Manantiales La Asuncic’m SAPLdeCV. & T
Marcas Nestlé, 5.A. de C.V.

Nescalin, SA.deCV. Y
Nespresso Mexwo S.A de CV

Nesﬁa Hold!ng Mexico S A_ de CV.

Mexico, D.F.

Méfiﬁ?ﬁ- BF.
Miéiico, D.F.

 México, D.F._
Mexa@e,@f

Meéxicg, D.F.
Queretaro

Nestlé Serwcaos Indus triales,

<01%

607632730
100 000

"1 050 000
5352 440

Ralsto
Waters Partners Services

_ México, D.F
México, D.

9257 112
620000

CPW México, $.de RL. de C.V. "% México, D.F.

43138000

Nlcaragua

Compafila Centreamericana de Productos Lacteos, 5.A, Mapagua

Managua

Panama

.. 10294900
150 000

Nestlé Centroamérica, S.A.  Panama City

Nestlé Panama, S.A. Panam4 City 100%

Unilac, Inc. 4

Panama City

Pa rag uay

o ]

i00%

1000 000
17500 000
750 000

Nestié Paraguay S.A. _ Asuncidn

Peru

100%

Nestlé Marcas Peru SA.C.

Nestlé Perd, S.A.

Puerto Rico

Nesﬂe Puerto Rico, inc. San Juan

_ Bayamon

Payco Foods Corporaﬂon o

;Frinidad and Tobagc;“

100%
100%

...500 000
..B90 000

Nestie  Caribbean, Ine. o 95%

. | Valsayn
Nest]e Trlnldad and Yobago Lt

_ Valsayn

Yoling powers amaurnt (o 81%
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Colombia_
Comestibles 1.a Rosa S.A. Bogota 52.4% 100%  COP 126 397 400

Bairy ?artnars Amerlcas Manufacturmg Cclombla Ltcia ~ Bogotd 9B 100%  CoOP 200000 Q00

Nestlé Purina PetCare de Colombia S.A.  Bogota <01% ___ 100% __ COP 17030000000

Costa Rica
Compafiia Nestlé Costa RicaS.A. —  ~ Heedia ....000% 0 390%  CRC | 18000000

Cuba
Coralac SA, - T aHabana B T e0%  _usp 6 350 000
Los po"a'93 5_'?:. — Ls Habana L 50% usp 24110 000

Nescor, S.A. ©509%  USD 32200000

Artemisa

Dominican Republlc

Ecuador

'”‘38%‘!1?.[?’,}.”'““ SA o ouite <03% _USD 3000000
Nestle Ecuador S.A. o ] ~__ Quite o __”.___'______100‘@ o N USD 1 776 760

€l Salvador
Nestld El Salvador, S.A. de C.V. ____ SanSaivador o 100% 100% usp - 4457 260

Guatemala

* Guatemala City C100% 100%  GT@ 50000
‘Guatemala City 100“{:, ‘ B 100% B GTQ . 4 59?}00‘
ident T c 100%  100% _ 6TQ

Malher Export S A, . GuatemalaCity __  100%

Guatemala City

Malhor, SA. e ... _ GuatmalaCiy R ™ S

Ne:
SERESA, Cbntra!amon de Servicios E:mpre‘.anales SA ~ Guatemala City L
TESOCORP.SA. . _ " GuatemalaCity _

Honduras
Malher de Honduras, S.A. de C.V,

Tegucigalpa

;Jﬂa”maica
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate

shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital
United States - :m T T S B o
BBC New Holdings,t.Lc ~~~© Wilmington {Delaware} o
Blue Bottle Coffee Inc __ Wilmington (Delaware} o

Chameleon Cold Brew, LLC.

Chackerboard | o
Dreyer's Grand Ece Cream HoEdmgs %nc.' o
Foundry Foods, Inc )
Galderma Research and De pment, o
Gerber Life Insurance Company
Gerber Products Company -
Ligherman Produ ) -

Malher lnc e
Mernck Pet Care Inc

Merrick Pet Care HoEdir-\gs- - tic
Nespresse USA Inc o
Nestlé Capital Corporanon - o
Nﬂstle Dreyer s lce Cream Companv

Nesté Health Science US Holdings, ine.

Nastlé HealthCare Nutrition, Inc.

Nestlé Holdings, Inc.

Wilmington {Delaware}

.5 Wilmington (Delawar . .
% Wilmington (Delaware}
_ Wilmington (De!aware} o i _100% 1
_ Wilmington (Delaware} ~100% USD 2 050 000
_® New York . 100% _ USD 148500000
_ Fremont (Mzchlgan} e 100% usD 1 OOQ
_ Sacramento (California) e 5%

Stafford (Texas}
_Dallas (Texas)

: Wlimmgton

WlEmlngtnm

Nestle Purma PetCara Globai Resources Im. o
Nestlé R&D Center, Inc

Nestlé Regional GLOBE Offrce
N"St'e Transpemtwqﬁemg%ﬁfﬂm e
Nestlé USA, Inc. ~ R
Nestlé Waters North Amenoa Holdings,
Nestlé Waters Morth America, Inc.
NiMCoUS, Inc. ...

rth Amenca |

Prometheus La boratones lnc

B%@,Mapi,e,,{nﬁur,an,,cgEO.mpanL, . ',

Tha Hasgen-Daaz Shoppe Company, Inc.,

The Proacty Company LLC

The Stouffer Corporation
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+ thmmgton (Deiaware} e

thladeiph ia

. (Pennsylvaniaj

i Wlimmgton (Delaw&re} o .

) W:Emmgton (Delaware} o

(Delaware}

MW ‘Wllmmgton (Dalaware) o
__ Wilmington (Delaware)
&
 Wilmington (Delaware)
.0 Wilmington (Delaware)

~ Fort Worth {Texas) R
 Los Angeles (Caln‘ornla) o
VWIHISk)n {Vermont)

) ClvdendOhiol
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Companies of the Nestié group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A, shareholdings Currency

Capital

United States (continued)

Tribe Mediterranean Foods, Inc. . Wilmington {Delaware)

C Wilmington (Delaware}

___ Wimington (Delaware) . usD

Zuke's LLC

Wimington Delewarel . 00% UsD

1

Aimmune Therapeutios, Ine '3 Wilmington (Delaware) . 14.9% __ USD
Seres Therapeutics, Ine.. ‘ ) - Cambridge ’ : :
o {Massachusetts) -

Uruguay

Nestlé del Uruguay S.A,. Montevideo

Venezuela

..2495189

Nestlé Cadipro, S.A.

Caracas

Caracas
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Companies of the Nestié group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital

City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Asia
Afghamstan

.

Nestlé Afghanistanbid

Bahrain

L Kabul 100% 100% __MSD 1000000

Nestlé Bahrain Trading WLL

Manama L ASA V8% BHD 200000
b

0,
Al Manhal Water Factory {Bah;ém) WLL - Mapama ;ﬁiw: e B3% ~ WABHD 300 000
E;r;giadesh . s e o ot s e - m_ i}
Nestls Bangladesh Limited . .. Phaka

Greater Chma Regaon ST

Anhui Yinlu Foods Co., Limited
Chengdu Hsu Chi l-pods Co., Ltmated -
Chengdu Ym!u Foods Co., leuted )
Dengguan Andegu Plastlc Packagmg Mdteraal leltec!
Dongguan Msu Chi Food Co., Limited
Galderma Hcmg Kong Limited
Galderma Trading {Shanghai) Co i.lmlted
Guangzhou Refriger

Henan Hsu Fu Chi Foods Ccr L|m|ted o
Hsu i—u Chi Imernatsonal Holdmgs lened L

Nestle {Chma} er(ied Mm_n_m__ o
Nestl¢ Dongguan Limited

F . Shanghai
 Zhumadien

Hanchuan 80w 80%  CNY

}jgng Kong

Tlan]m
Laixi

Chuzhou

 Chengdu  60%  CNY
_Chengdu 86% 80% ChNY 215 800 000

Dongguan . . _ 60% _ HKD 10000000

| Dongguan o 80% HKD 700000 009

HongKeng  100%  HKD 10000
400 OOO

390 000 000

e 8O CNY 224000 000
Hong Keng — ... B0%  usD 100000

Beling oo NQ0% o 100%  CNY. 250 000 000

_Dongguan T 100%  100%  CNY 536000000
A I‘:‘E.zuhf’,ﬁgtf!’m o 100% ush 32 640 Q00

©100%  100%  HKD 250000 000
100%
C100% 1
100%

Nestlé RED ([China) .@,4rniseflw;fj;, e
Nestlé Shanghai Lirnited

 Beiing
. Shanghai

._e9_999~9é<_{
200 0060 000
435 000 000

Nestls Sources Shanghai Limited . Shanghai . 100% __ 100% __CNY 1149700000
NestIgSources}faanjln}tgmlted o Tianjin o 95%  CNY 204 009_299
NeStIe Taiwan L?mite( A aa AmU L L AR ALAL AR I A As § Talpel L LA ALY AL AR A L8 AR AR RS

Nestlé Tianjin Limited

G-Med tnternational Trading (Shanghal) Lim;ted

Shandong Yinlu Foods
Shanghai Nestié Product Services aneted
Shanghai Totole F(rst Food mi_lﬂr\_:}lted o

Shanghai Totole Food Li

Sichuan Haoji Food Ca., Limlted
Suzhou Hexing Food Co., Limited

166

 Shanghei
__ Shanghai
. shanghai

Tmin  100%  100%  CNY 785000000

. Shanghai 100% | Usbo 600 000

B0%  BO%  CNY 146 880 000
o d00% CNY 83000000
J00% - CNY. | ..72000 000
__USD 7800000

CNY 80000 000
0 600 000

Puge

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017



Companies of the Nesilé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Greater Chma Reglon (contmued} o o e
e K Hong Kong o o T00%  100% HKD 3554 107 000
Wyeth (Shangha!) Tradmg Co.,, '-s‘,[“%!%‘f,, o o "%']?Ughﬁi Q0% UsSD 1000000

Wyeth Nutritional {China} Co., Limited e mee Suzhou 100% _ CNY 900 000 000

. L Nimmen
Yunnan Dashan Drlnks Co,, Lumlted . Kunming . 100% 100%
CPW Tianjin Limited - o - ¥ Tianjin .

35000 000

05 080 000

India
Galderma India Privateitd o - Mumbai o 100%  INR 24156000

Nestlé india Ltd & NewDethi a3 628%  INR 964157 160

Listed on the B.,mbay bmck .v_xclmnqe (RS [ Ltd) market Capita/nsat;on INR 7586 4 biflion, quotdfmn caae {1 SfN; i‘NL}’JJAL‘ IJ ’b o
Nestlé R&D Centre India Privateltd ~~~~ NewDethi ~  100%

101 380 000

Purina Potcare India Private Ltd .. _° NewDeihi _ e % ___INR 20000000

SMA Nutrition india Private Limited ~~ ~~ ~ ° NewDelhi = 97% INR 22000000

Indonesia

_ Jakarta . pdvdl
Jakarta 66000000 000

F’.T. Wyeth Nutrition Sduaeﬁ;m - Jakarta 0% DR 2000005 000

P.T, Nestié Indofoad Citarasa indonesia e -1 Jakarta CoL 50% ' 50% ~ DR 200 000 000 000

Iran
Nestlé iran {Private Joint Stock Company) ~ Tehran 89.7% 83.7% IRR 358 538 000 000

Nestlé Waterslranian . Teen . 100% IR 35300000000

788% WS 108

BeltHashtta—‘ Kiobutz Beit Hashit;
Materna Industnes anted F‘aﬂnersh:p Kibbutz Maabarot

_ Shoam

Nespresso lsrae Ltd

Noga lce Cream Limited Partnership. _ Sheam o 100% LS

OSEM Food Industries Lid Shoam
OSEM Group Commerce Limited Partnership ~~~~ Shoam

OSEM Investmerts Ltd
TJivall Foed Industr:es Ltd S

110 644 443

_ 41801167

.ﬂ:pan

Blue Bottle Coffes Japan, _87.9% - JPY 30000000
100%

L190% L 100% - IPY

Nesﬂe Skin Health Y K

The Proactiv Company K.K. _78% ___ JPY. 10000000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies City by Nestlé 5.A. shareholdings Currency Capital

Jordan
Ghadoeer Minera| Water Co. WLL Amman 75% JOD 173785000

Nestlé Jordan Trading Compary Lt~ Amman_ 778% __ 778%  JOD 410000

Kuwalt
Nestlé Kuwait General Trading Company WLL Safat A% A8 RWD .. 300 000

Labanon
Societé des Eaux Minérales Libanaises S.A.L. ] Hazmigh w77100% __LBF 18610000 000

Socigte pour PiExportation des Produtts Nestle 5 A Bagbds 100:% o 100% _ CHFE 1750 QQQ
- S - —_ L 100% LBP 160 000 000

Malaysia
Nestlé (Malaysia) Bhd, 2% Petaling Jaya 72.6% 72.6% MYR 234 500 000

Listed on the Kuala Aumpur srock exchange, market ., a;j:mﬁs;f'f-on MYR 24.2 bi:’," hon, quora‘mn (ode (ISIN} MYL«I?(J‘?OOO(‘& .
Sdn.

Nestlé Asean (Malaysi

Petaling Jaya

Nestlé Manutacturing ( aiayul_ Bhd., ) ) T L IVEYH 132 ‘::00
Nestlé Products Sdn. Bhd, e e Petalingdaya _MYR 25000000

Nestié Regional Serwce Centre (Maiays " Petaling Jaya
F’urma re (Ma)aysia Sdn. Bhd

Wyeth Nutrltlc»n (Malavsla) Sdn Bhd 7 o Petalﬁng éa\;'a_ ” T

1969 505

Cereal Partners (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. ‘ M‘i Petaling Jaya ) T som 2500 MOQQw

Myanmar
Nestié Myanmar Limited

(B% Ysh 5000000

Oman
Nesté Oman Trading LLC _Museat s 49%  OMR 300000

Pakistan
Nestié Pak!stan btd o ) i
tisted on the Pak;szan SFOuk fXCf“df‘Jé’ marke a‘ f‘dp«ﬁi!];dl’iﬁf? FKP 5220 bﬂ' iion, c;uararfon _oJe (!S!N} PKJEL?‘* 101012

B

Lahore J59% o 89%  PKR 453495840

Palestmlan Temtorles
Nestié Trading Private Limited Company Bethlehem 975%  975%  Job 200000

Phnhppmes
Galderma Philippines, Inc. e o, Manila
Nestlé Business Services AQ Bu!acanhw

- Makati City
B Manila
b Makati City

630 000 000

610418 100,
7 500 000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and asscciates

% capital % ultimate
sharehoidings capital
Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings

Currency Capital

Qatar

Al Manbhal V

Repubhc of Korea

. OAR- . 5500000
_QAR .. .1880000

Galderma Korea Ltd 7 - . 100%
Nestlé Korea Yuhan Chaeglm Hoesa e Seou e T00% 100%

KRW 500 000 000

T KRW 15594 500 000

Pulmuone WatersCo., Ltd o e Gyeonggs Do
LOTTE-Nestlé {Korea} Co., Ltd ' "1 Cheongju
SaudiArabia

Al Anhar Water FactoryCo. Ltd - Jeddah L B4%

Nesilé Water Factory 60Ltd B
Pure Water Factory Ca. Ltd

SHAS Campany for WaterServices ted  Ryadh L BA%

Springs Water Factory Co. btd ] __ Dammam

SAB o 77500 OOE}
_SAR 7000000

SAR 27000000
_SAR 15000000

5 000 000
SAR 135000 000

Slngapore

e Private Lid
D enter {Pte) Ltd

Nesﬂe Slngapore (gte) Ltd M . Slngapore- T 3‘00% o ‘IOO% _

Nestlé TC Asia Pacific Pte Ltd ¥ Singagore 100% 100%

Wyeth Nutritionals (Singapore) Plo Ltd _______ Sgapore . 100% ___ 100%

Sri Lanka

D 1000000
JPY 10000 000 000
$6D | 2059971715

Syrla

LKR 537254 630

Nesé SyriaS.A, . . ... .. Demesus . 100% 100%

Thailand -

SYP 800 000 000

Arun Saeng Ltd * Bangkok 100% L 00%

Galderma (Thatlaﬂd) Ltd S Bangkok D 1

160%
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

% capital
shareholdings
by Nestié S.A,

% ultimate
capitat
shareholdings

Currency

Capital

United Arab Emi;;{és

Nestlé Dubai Manufacturing LLC ~ Dubai_ 49% . 48% AED 300000
Nestlé Middle East FZE o » Dubai 6% 100% AED 3 000 000
Nesti¢ Middle East Manufacturing LLC _._ Dubai . ; 49% . .49% AED 300000
Nestié Middle East Marksting FZE _ Bubai 100% AED 1 000 000

Nestlé Treasury Centre-Middie kast & Africa btd

Nestlé UAE LLC

00%

_00%

_usp

2997 343 684

LA89%

AED

2 000 000

Nestié Waters Factory HEOLLC _ Dubai 48%  AED 22300000
CP Middle East FZCO U Dubai 50% 50%  AED 600 000

Uzbekistan

Namangansut-Nafosat MChy
Mestlé Uzbekistan MChd

Vietnam

 Namangan
. Namangan

46 227 969

38715463

La Vie Limited Liability Company
Nestlé Vietna

120

USD

2 663 400

KVND 1261151498
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies City

% capital
shareholdings
by Nestié S.A.

% ultimate
capital
shareholdings

Currency Capital

Oceania o )
Australia

Galderma Australia Pty Ltd

Nestié Australia Ltd _ Sydney

Belrose

Careal Partners Australia Pty Ltd - m:j Sydney o i i ) 107 800 000
Fii ] - ' .

Nestle (Fid Ltd e A e 3R N00% RID 3000000
e e RN s e et o i s et o i
Nesti¢ Polynésie S.A.S. - ... Papeete R LN00%  KPE 5000000
New Caledonia B o T ; T T B B o o
Nestié Nouvelle-Caladonie S.A.S. _Nouméa oo _100% XPF 64000000
Niow Zogiana T T . e st et ot = i e O

- o Augkland 0%
Auekland e
Papua New Guinea e
Nestle fPNGYLd - Lae ; - _100% 109% PGk 11880000
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

Technical assistance, research and development units

All scientific research and technological development is undertaken in a number of dedicated
centres, specialised as follows:

Technical Assistance TA
Development centres D
Research centres R
Research & Development centres R&D
Product Technology centres PTC

The Technical Assistance centre is Nestec Ltd, a technical, scientific, commercial and business
assistance company. The units of Nestec Ltd, specialised in all areas of the business, supply
permanent know-how and assistance to operating companies in the Group within the framework
of licence and equivalent contracts. Nestec Ltd is also responsible for all scientific research and
technological development, which it undertakes itself or through affiliated companies.

The centres involved are listed below:

City of operations

Switzerland

Clipical Development Unit o  Lausanne R

Nestle 2 Devetopment Centre

Nestlé institute of Health Scténces S. A T [:cublens o o
Nestlé Product Technology Centre Beverage Orbe e
Nestle Product Technology Centre Dairy Konelfingen

Nestlé Product Technoiogy Centre Nestié Nutrmon

Nestl Product Technology Centre Nestlé Professmnal

Nestle HesearchCentre  ~ ~  lLausanne

Nestlé Systemn Technology Centre Orbe

CPW R&D Centre -~ T orbe

Austalia T T i -

CPW RED Centre 0 Pytherglen : o . Bab
m(:hmnme et e e e o o et e

Nestlé Development Centre B ) _ Santiago de Chile

Céte d'lvoire
Nestlé R&D Centre o Abidian

France

Nes‘de Product Technology Centre Water 5
Nestls RED Cenre
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Companies of the Nestlé group, joint arrangements and associates

City of operations

F;;r;ca V(Véontinued) T 7

Nestlé R&D Centre o Tours ) _RgD
Fronéri Develepment Center Glaces 5.A.5. e i Beauvais ' . e BTG
Nestlé Product Technology Centre Food  _Singen . ] cpTc
Groater China Region T )
Nestlo RgD Centrs - ., Beiiing . RaD. I
Nestlé R&D Centre e . Shanghai ) . ... RED

India

Nastlé Development Centre

Gurgaon

Italy o
Nesté R&D Centre _ o .. Sansepolcro .. Rab ) L
Mexico o S 7 o T
Nestle R&D Centre . Querstaro R e RBD .
Republic of Ireland T e
Nestlé DevelopmentCenwwe Askeaton - b
Singapore o ’ - o
Nestié DevelopmentCentre  _ Singapore e B .
T N
. Yppsala U 1. N
United States B o
Galderma R&D Centre ) Fort Worth (Texas) B
. . Fremont (Michigan) e e . e
B __ Marysyille ORIy L
Nestlé DevelopmentCentye .~~~ ~ Solon {Ohic) R b A

gy Centre Health Science

Bridgewater Jers
_ Bakersfield (California)

_ St Louis (Missouri)

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2017
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Income statement for the year ended
31 December 2017

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2017

Notes to the annual accounts
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. Interest-bearing liabilities
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Income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2017

In millions ot CHF

2017

Income from Group companies
Profit on disposal of assets

Otherincome

Financial income

12 316
155
96
407

Total income

12974

11 676

Expenses recharged from Group compamies I -~ 8
Personnel expenses . R
Other expenses

i

Taxes

A
ben

(15%)

e
o3

(631}

@501

e
3%
{542)

Total expenses

{4 388)

{5 228)

Profit for the vear

3 585

G 448
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Balance sheet

as at 31 December 2017

before appropriations

In milkions of CHF

2017 2016

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current

ivables

Prepayments and accrued income

I N
2473

32 77

Total current assats

1095 19829

Non-current assets

Financial assets

Intangible assets

7 8763

L8008 9

a5

Total non-current assets

39 863

Total assets

40 958 42 010

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities ... . -

Interest-bearing liabilities e R 2734

Other current liabiliies . e B} 2162

Accruals and deferred incame - v

Provisions 514

Total current liabilities 5427

Non-current liabilites . __ SR U

Interest-boaring liabilives U e 18

Provisions 507 51

Total non-current liabilities 645 633

Total liabilities 8072 5 136

Equity .

Share pgpital N S 3

Voluntary retained earnings e

- Special reserve 2239 237288
-3 - L

Treasury shares

858 5448

14 364) (918)

Total equity

34 886 36 874

Total liabilities and equity

40 958 42 010
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Notes to the annual accounts

1. Accounting policies

General

Nestlé S.A. {the Company) is the ultimate holding company
of the Nestlé Group, domiciled in Cham and Vevey which
comprises subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures throughout the world.

The accounts are prepared in accordance with
accounting principles required by Swiss law (3Z2nd title of
the Swiss Code of Obligaticns). They are prepared under the
historical cost convention and an an accrual basis. Where
not prescribed by law, the significant accounting and
valuation principles applied are described below.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of
exchange at the date of the transaction or, if hedged forward,
at the rate of exchange under the related forward contract.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are carried at historical
rates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at year-end rates. Any resulting exchange
differences are included in the respective income statement
captions depending upon the nature of the underlying
transactions. The aggregate unrealised exchange difference
is calculated by reference to original transaction date
exchange rates and includes hedging transactions. Where
this gives rise to a net loss, it is charged to the income
statement whilst a net gain is deferred.

Hedging

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts,
options, financial futures and currency swaps to hedge
foreign currency flows and positions. Unrealised foreign
exchange differences on hedging instruments are matched
and accounted for with those on the underlying asset or
liability. Long-term loans, in foreign currencies, used to
finance investments in shareholdings are generally not
hedged.

The Company also uses interest rate swaps to manage
interest rate risk. The swaps are accounted for at fair value
at each balance sheet date and changes in the market price
are recorded in the income statement.

The positive fair values of forward exchange contracts
and interest rate swaps are included under prepayments
and accrued income. The negative fair values of forward
exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are included
under accruals and deferred income.

151st Financial Statements of Nestlé S.A.

Income statement

in accordance with Swiss law and the Company's Articles
of Association, dividends are treated as an appropriation of
profit in the year in which they are ratified at the Annual
General Meeting rather than as an appropriation of profitin
the year to which they relate.

Taxes
This caption includes taxes on profit, capital and
withholding taxes on transfers from Group companies.

Shareholdings and financial assets

The carrying value of sharehcldings and loans comprises
the cost of investment, excluding the incidental costs of
acquisition, less any write-downs,

Sharehoeldings located in countries where the political,
economic or monetary situation might be considered to
carry a greater than normal level of risk are carried at
a nominal value of one franc.

Shareholdings and loans are written down on
a conservative basis, taking into account the profitability of
the company concerned.

Property, plant and equipment

The Company owns land and buildings which have been
depreciated in the past. Office furniture and equipment are
fully depreciated on acquisition.

intangible assets

Trademarks and other industrial property rights are written
off on acquisition or exceptionally over a longer period, not
exceeding their useful lives.

Provisions

Provisicns include present obligations as well as
contingencies. A provision for uninsured risks is constituted
to cover general risks not insured with third parties, such as
consequential loss. Provisions for Swiss taxes are made on
the basis of the Company’s taxable capital, reserves and
profit for the year. A general provision is maintained to cover
possible foreign tax liabilities.
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2. iIncome from Group companies

This represents dividends and other income from Group companies.

3. Profit on disposal of assets

This represents mainly the net gains realised on the sale of financial assets, trademarks
and other industrial property rights previously written down.

4, Financial income

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
Income on loans to Group companies 407 220
Other financial income -
407 220
5. Expenses recharged from Group companies
Expenses of central service companies recharged 1o Nestlé S.A.
6. Write-downs and amortisation
In milkons of CHF
2017 2016
Shareholdings and loans . e . e 73 . 1429
Trademarks and other industrial property rights 154 408
889 1 835
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7. Financial expense

In millions of CH¥

2017 2018

Other financial expenseas Tmmme o V 87 I 30
93 e

8. Taxes

In millions of CHF
2017 2016
Directtaxes e e e e et e : wr A

Prior year's adjustments —

Withholding taxes on income from foreign sources 440 371
631 542

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits with maturities of less than three months.

10. Other current receivables
Irt millions of CHF

2017 2016

Amounts ewed by Group companies (eurrent accounts) el 888 LT

Other receivables 3 a 30

724 737

11. Financial assets

In miffions of CHE
2017 7016
Loans to Group companies e e e e rme 8757
Other investments 3 6
7 761 8763
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12. Shareholdings

In millions of CHF

2017 2016
At 1 January 31175 32 488
Netincrease/(decrease) e 1827 A
Write-downs (BY6) {1 416)
At 31 Decembar 32 006 31175
A list of direct and significant indirect Group companies held by Nestlé S.A. with the
percentage of the capital controlled is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements
of the Nestlé Group.
13. Interest-bearing liabilities
Current and non-current interest-bearing liabilities are amounts owed to Group
companies.
14. Other current liabilities
In millions of CHF
2017 2018
Amounts owed to Group companies e 1847 e 1808
Other liabilities 315 40
Z 162 1645
15. Provisions
I millions of CHF
2017 20186
Swiss and
Uninsured  Exchange foreign
risks risks taxes Other Total Total
At 1 January 475 451 174 161 1261 1325
Provisions made in the period 244 232

Amountsused . O 2400 {2106)

Unused amounts revers&rdw o {244} {86)

At 31 December 475 207 203 136 1021 1261
L5814 780

ot which expected 1o be seltled wi
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16. Share capital

2017 2016
Number of registered shares of nominal value CHF 0.10each . - 8112780000 3112160 000
According to article 5 of the Company’s Articles of Association, no person or entity shall
be registered with voting rights for more than 5% of the share capital as recorded in the
commercial register. This limitation on registration aiso applies to persons who hold some
or all of their shares through nominees pursuant to this article. In addition, article 11
provides that no person may exercise, directly or indirectly, voting rights, with respect
to own shares or shares represented by proxy, in excess of 5% of the share capital as
recorded in the commercial register.
At 31 December 2017, the share register showed 157 753 registered shareholders. if
unprocessed applications for registration, the indirect holders of shares under American
Depositary Receipts and the beneficial owners of shareholders registered as nomineaes
are also taken into account, the total number of shareholders probably exceeds 250 000.
The Company was not aware of any shareholder holding, directly or indirectly, 5% or
more of the share capital.
17. Changes in equity
In millions of CHF
General

Share legal Special Retained Treasury

capital reserve reserve earnings shares Total
At 1 January 2017 311 1 o924 23 288 12 268 818) 36 874
Profit for the year S SRS Ul ...B5es - 8585
Dividend for 2016 o B - — 71280 (7128
Movement of reasury shares I {3 246)

Dividend on treasury shares hekriﬂbn ﬁwé bgyr;é;trdate—‘ci"émsv&ivide;g o L . 31 S (313

At 31 December 2017 311 1924 23319 13 696

{4 364) 34 886
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18. Treasury shares

In millions of CHF

2017 2016

Number Amount Number Amount

Share Buy-Back Programme 41578784 B84BT T
Long-term incentiveplans . 873904 567 990088 608
For trading purposes T 4 238 445 310 4 238 445 310
54 606 254 4 364 14 139 330 918

During the year 41 578 764 shares were purchased as part of the Share Buy-Back
Programme for CHF 3487 million.

The Company held 8 789 045 shares ta cover long-term incentive plans. During the
year 3 135 109 shares were delivered as part of the Nestlé Group remuneration plans for
a total vatue of CHF 180 million. In addition, 2 023 269 shares have been acquired at a
cost of CHF 149 million. All treasury shares are valued at acquisition cost.

The total of own shares of 54 606 254 held by Nestlé S.A. at 31 December 2017
represents 1.8% of the Nestié S.A. share capital (14 139 330 own sharas held at
31 December 2016 by Nestlé S.A. representing 0.56% of the Nestlé S.A. share capital).

19. Contingencies

At 31 December 2017, the total of the guarantees mainly for credit facilities granted to Group
companies and commercial paper programmes, together with the buy-back agreements
relating to notes issued, amounted to a maximum of CHF 47 771 million

{2016; CHF 43 155 million).
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20. Performance Share Units and shares for members
of the Board and empioyees granted during the year

in millions of CHF

2017 2016

Number Amount Number Armount

27zays i 484488 .32

112815 . 7o 100851 .8
55 919 5 " 91256 5

470 852 27 676 194 43

{8} Performance Share Units are disclosed at fair valug at grant which corresponds to CHF 85,86 in 2017

(2016: CHF 85,85}, includes 193 286 Performanae Share Units granled to Executive Board [2016: 219 0201
{b) Shares are valued at the average closing price of the last ten trading days of January, discounted by 16.038% to
acsount for the blocking period of three years,
Shares are valuod at the closing price on the ex-dividend date, discountod by 16.038% account for the biocking period
of three years.

{5

21. Full-time equivalents

For Nestlé S.A., the annual average number of full-time equivalents for the reporting year, as
well as the previous year, did not exceed 250.

22. Events after the balance sheet date

There are no subsequent events which either warrant a modification of the value of the
assets and liabilities or any additional disclosure.
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23. Shares and stock options

Shares and stock options ownership of the non-executive members
of the Board of Directors and closely related parties

2017

2018

Number of Number of Number of
shares options shares
held held 3 held i

Number of
options
held !

Paul Bulcke, Chairman 1263185 - 420000 i

An 101079 97 176

opma

Beat W, Hess

Az .37 262

RenatoFassbind . o=;em - 87

Steven G. Hoch 1s7 vz e 164 475

Naina Lal Kidwai

Jean-Pierre Roth 14531 o - 12 216

ﬁ’.?!LM;YE.’]ETﬁﬂmw . clsesr L 1A8ed

BvaCheng 12769 ~ . _ 10258
Ruth K. Oniang’a S B743 o ...
Patrick Aebischer 2435 T e
UrsulaM. Burns
Members who retired from the Board during 2017

N 1 852 ..... o it

3581827

127000

Total as at 31 December 1 686 408 420 000 3 969 584

127 Q00

fa} Including shares subject to a thiee-year biocking period.
{b} The ratic is ane option Tor one Nestls S.A, share,
{¢] For 2016 included under shares and stock options ownership of the inembers of the Executive Board.
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23. Shares and stack options

Shares and stock options ownership of the members

and closely related parties

of the Executive Board

2017 2016
Number of Number of Number of Number of
shares options shares options
held « held held = held !
Ulf Mark Schreider . CoTes -
LaurentFreixe . . 17587 T
Chrisdonson 62376 6at00 125400
PavriceBula . CIsean 1o180n e
Wan Ling Marteflo . R 1o0rs07 (121100
Stefan Catsicas 10347
Marco Settembri L3187
Frangois-Xavier Roger 14 544
9152
: 49 960
Heiko Schipper -
Maurizio Patarnelle dseas T I
Grégory Behar e e e . 1es - . -
David P. Frick . 53199 o
Members who retired from the Executive Board during 2017 -
Total as at 31 Decamber 531 666 327 000 1 569 090 1272470
ta} Including shares subject to a three-year blocking period.
(b} The ratic is one option {or one Nestié 5.4, share,
For the detailed disclosures regarding the remunerations of the Board of Directors and
the Executive Board that are required by Swiss law, refer to the Compensation report of
Nestlé S.A. with the audited sections highlighted with a blue bar.
151st Financial Statemaents of Nestlé S.A, 187




Proposed appropriation of profit

In CHF

2017 2016
Retained earnings S B
Profit brought forward . - e s ., 2113282705 5820737 7116
Profit for the year 8 584 500 298 6 448 462 989

13 695 733 003 12 269 200 705

We propose the following appropriation:

Dividend for 2017, CHF 2.35 per share
on 3 070 581 236 sharas &
[2016: CHF 2.30 on 3 112 160 000 shares)

7 215 865 805 7 157 968 000

7 215 865 905 7 157 968 000

Profit to be carried forward

6 479 867 098 5111232 705

{a} Depending on the number of shares issued as of the fast rading day with entitlement to receive the dividend
113 Apnil 2018}, No dividend 1s paid on own shares held by thoe Nestlé Group, the reapective amount will b attributed

1o tha special reserve.

{b) The amount of CHF 31 B52 088, representing the dividend on 13 848 734 own sharas hsld at the date of the dividend

payment, has been transforrod to the spoctal reserve.

Provided that the proposal of the Board cf Directors is approved by the Annual General
Meeting, the gross dividend will amount to CHF 2.35 per share, representing a net
amount of CHF 1.5275 per share after payment of the Swiss withholding tax of 35%.
The last trading day with entitlement to receive the dividend is 13 April 2018. The shares
will be traded ex-dividend as of 16 April 2018. The net dividend will be payable as from

18 April 2018.

The Board of Directors

Cham and Vevey, 14 February 2018
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statutory Audiors Repart

To the General Meeting of Nestlé S.A_, Cham & Vevey
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Nestlé S.A., which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December

2017, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
surnmmary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 177 to 187) for the year ended 31 December 2017 comply with
Swiss law and the Company's Articles of Association,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss

law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have cbtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to
communicate in aur report,

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is respensible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of Swiss law and the Company's Articles of Assaciation, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related te going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do se.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements,
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As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due te fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate {o provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events ar
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements oy, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

VWe communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during cur audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its refevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reascnably be thought to tear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing sc woulid
reascnably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Qther Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CQ and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according
to the instructions of the Board of Directars.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the
Company's Articles of Association. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Scott Cormack Lukas Marty
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 14 February 2018

KPMG SA, 111 Rue dé Lyon, P.J. Box 347, CH-1Z11 Geneva 13

KPMG SAi5 a subsidiary of KPMG Hokling AG, which is 2 member ofthe KPMG network of indepandent firms affilated with KPMG i o ive ("WPMG i ) A
Swiss legal enity. All ights reserved.
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